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By exploring the events surrounding the Council of Reims convened by
Pope Eugenius III in 1148, this article argues that the council is an
important example of the exercise of ecclesiastical power in the twelfth
century. The council featured decisions on the marriage of Ralph of
Vermandois, debates on the heresy case of Gilbert of Poitiers, arguments
over episcopal primacy, and impressive displays of ecclesiastical
grandeur. It demonstrates the difficult balancing act performed by
Eugenius, as well as the extent and limitations of his power. And it
illustrates how a pope could use ritual, liturgy, and public display to
lead the Church, even when restricted by competing ecclesiastical forces.
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mid the range of concerns that fill his De consideratione (c. 1150)—

the rising influx of litigation appealed to the papal court, bribery, the
threat of envy and ambition throughout the ecclesiastical hierarchy—
Bernard of Clairvaux took time to look back to the Council of Reims that
had taken place in 1148. The council, called by Pope Eugenius IIT (1145-
53), had issued reforming canons, debated episcopal primacy, resolved dis-
puted marriages, and addressed cases of heresy (see Figure 1). But Bernard
did not cast it—or Eugenius’s role in it—in a positive light:

*Kathleen Walkowiak is a PhD candidate at Saint Louis University in St. Louis, Mis-
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410 PUBLIC AUTHORITY AND PRIVATE CONSTRAINTS

Did you not promulgate with your own mouth the laws proposed at the
Council of Reims? Who keeps them? Who has kept them? You deceive
yourself if you think they are observed. If you do not think this, then you
have sinned either by decreeing what cannot be observed or by neglecting
the fact that your decrees are not observed. . . . These are your words, you
have sanctioned them. What effect have they had?™

This retrospective assessment of the council paints a bleak picture of its
importance: it is depicted as a failure on Eugenius’s part to translate reform
from page to practice.

The actual impact of the Council of Reims in 1148 was not as minimal
as Bernard suggested.? Yet that Bernard chose to focus on this tension
between the aspirations of the council and its tangible accomplishments
raises a series of questions concerning the development of the twelfth-cen-
tury Church and the papacy at its head. The Council of Reims illustrates the
contradictions that defined papal authority in the twelfth century, and an
illustration of the limitations of the term “papal monarchy.” Eugenius’s role
at Reims placed him at the forefront of the Church: he led grand proces-
sions, clarified canons, and settled disputes over ecclesiastical discipline. But
Reims also demonstrates the limits and constraints placed on this power. For
every instance that Eugenius stood at the forefront of the Church, there is
another instance of him being constrained by the web of concurrent powers
and influences that surrounded him. The Council of Reims is a valuable
example of the exercise of ecclesiastical authority in the twelfth century. It
addressed issues of ecclesiastical primacy, marriage, heresy, and reform. It
was attended by some of the most prominent clerics of the age. And it
demonstrates the balancing act of papal authority: Eugenius III did not act
like a papal monarch but a careful diplomat, steadying the swirl of factions
and often-contradicting authorities that defined the twelfth century.

The Council of Reims

In October 1147—seven months into his fourteen-month itineration
through the kingdom of France—Pope Eugenius III sent out letters to

1. “Nonne os tuum in Remensi concilio subiecta capitula promulgavit? Quis ea tenet?
Quis tenuit? Falleris, si teneri putas. Si non putas, ipse peccasti, aut statuens quae non tener-
entur, aut quod non tenentur dissimulans . . . [Bernard here summarizes some of the Reims
canons] . .. Verba tua haec: tu sanxisti. Quid effectui mancipatum?” Bernard of Clairvaux, De
consideratione ad Eugenium Papam, in Sancti Bernardi Opera 3, ed. Jean Leclercq and Henri-
Maria Rochais, (Rome, 1963), pp. 446-47.

2. Anne Duggan, “Justinian’s Laws, Not the Lord’s: Eugenius III and the Learned Laws,”
in Eugenius III ed. Iben Fonnesberg-Schmidt and Andrew Jotischky (Farnham, forthcoming).
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FIGURE 1. Detail of Pope Eugenius III from the tableaux in the Cathedral of Saint-
Etienne in Chélons depicting the consecration of the cathedral by the pope after its
restoration, 15th century. Artist unknown. Tableaux housed at the Cathedral of
Saint-Etienne, Chalons, France, and reproduced on its website. (http://www.
cathedrale-chalons.culture.fr/restauration-peintures-sculptures.htm)

prelates from “diverse parts of the world” summoning them to the council
that would ultimately be held in Reims.? The letter that survives opens
with an arenga that underlined the fundamental importance of papal
authority. Having received its authority from Christ and from Peter, the
Church, “rising up just like a remarkable structure on the most solid foun-
dation,” directed its efforts towards reform. Eugenius declared this to be
his own responsibility, and called the council based upon the “obligation of
his apostolic authority.”* The arenga is a strong assertion of Eugenius’s

3. “de diversis mundi partibus,” Patrologiae Cursus Completus, ed. Jacques-Paul Migne,
Series Latina, 217 vols. (Paris, 1855), 180:1285B—hereafter cited as PL; Regesta pontificum
romanorum, ed. Phillip Jaffé, 2 vols. (Graz, 1956), 2:9149—hereafter cited as JL.

4. “auctoritatis apostolicae debito provocati,” PL 180:1285. The arenga in full reads as
follows: “Indubitatum procul dubio est, et universa per mundum Christianitas recognoscit,
quod sanctam matrem et apostolicam Romanam Ecclesiam solus ille fundavit et super firmam
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vision for the council and his own position within the Church. As outlined
in Eugenius’s summons, the council aimed at ecclesiastical reform and
unity, objectives that were to be translated into reality by papal authority
derived from Christ himself.

Eugenius’s summons also demonstrated that he took attendance at the
council seriously: he ordered recipients of his letters to attend.” As was
common for councils of the period, those absent were suspended from
their offices, a fate that awaited a range of prelates. Despite a sizeable con-
tingent of Iberian clergy—including Archbishop Raimundo of Toledo,
Archbishop Bernat Tort of Tarragona, and the bishops of Coria, Segovia,
and Oviedo—Alfonso VII of Leén-Castile had to appeal to the pope to lift
the suspension from the bishops who did not attend.® The archbishops of
Mainz and Cologne were also suspended, even though Archbishop Henry
of Mainz was serving as regent of the German kingdom while Conrad was
away on crusade.” And despite the fact that King Stephen had prohibited
the attendance of English clergy, Eugenius still suspended them and
Stephen was only saved from excommunication thanks to the last-minute

intervention of Archbishop Theobald of Canterbury.® These suspensions

et immobilem fidei petram constituere voluit, qui beato Petro, coelorum regni clavigero, ter-
reni simul et coelestis imperii jura commisit. Non enim cujuslibet terrenae sententiae, sed
illius verbi, quo constructum est coelum, et terra privilegio fungitur, illius auctoritate fulcitur.
Sic enim divini consilii altitudo disposuit, ut sancta Romana, quam praefati sumus, Ecclesia
in capite nostro Domino Jesu Christo, tanquam in solidissimo fundamento admirabilis struc-
tura consurgens, universis per orbem ecclesiis praelatione perpetua pracemineret et ad emer-
gentes haereses et alia mala et vitia pullulantia resecanda per se ipsam studiose intenderet, et
ad diem efficiendum pro qualitate causarum et temporum aliorum studia excitaret.”

5. “fratres nostros archiepiscopos, episcopos et alios ecclesiarum praelatos de diversis
mundi partibus duximus convocandos . . . apud Trecas concilium celebrare decrevimus,” JL
9149; PL 180:1285; Nikolaus Hiring, “Notes on the Council and Consistory at Rheims
(1148),” Mediaeval Studies, 28 (1966), 39-59, here 39-40.

6. Nikolaus Hiring, “Die spanischen Teilnehmer am Konzil von Rheims im Mirz
1148, Medieaval Studies, 32 (1970), 15971, here 160; Peter Linehan, History and the Histo-
rians of Medieval Spain (Oxford, 1993), p. 269.

7. John of Salisbury, John of Salisbury’s Memoirs of the Papal Court (Historia Pontificalis),
ed. and trans. Marjorie Chibnall (London, 1956), p. 10. The suspension was also noted in
Chronica Regia Coloniensis, ed. Georg Waitz, in Monumenta Germaniae historica inde ab a. C. 500
usque ad a. 1500, Scriptores rerum Germanicarum, 78 vols—hereafter cited as MGH SRG (Han-
nover: 1871-2007) 18:1-299, here p. 86; Also see a letter written by Wibald of Corvey in the
name of Conrad III’s son, Henry: Monumenta Corbeiensia, ed. Philip Jaffé [Bibliotheca Rerum
Germanicarum, 6 vols], (Bern, 1864), 1:191; Michael Horn, Studien zur Geschichte Papst Eugens
IIT. (1145-1153), [Europiische Hochschulschriften Reihe III: Geschichte und ihre Hilfswis-
senschaften, Bd 508], (Frankfurt, 1992), pp. 64-66; Hiring, “Notes on the Council,” 40.

8. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 6=7, 10~11; Horn, Eugens III, pp. 144-45.
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suggest that attendance may not have matched Eugenius’s hopes. Yet
turnout was still significant, with chroniclers recording figures ranging
from 400 to 1,100 clerics.” Even if these numbers were inflated, the dele-
gations that arrived to settle monastic disputes, the large number of privi-
leges issued, and the range of French and Spanish prelates who debated
over primacy, all suggest that the council was well-attended.!”

The council and consistory lasted around eleven days.!! The council
itself consisted of the promulgation of canons, disputes over episcopal pri-
macy in France, the judgment against French heretic Eon d’Etoile, and con-
cerns raised regarding various nobles and kings. The consistory, comprising
a smaller number of prelates, dealt with the marriage of Ralph of Verman-
dois and the questions of the Trinitarian orthodoxy of Gilbert of Poitiers.!2

References to the Council of Reims were relatively commonplace. It
was mentioned frequently by contemporary sources: mostly in passing, but
several paid particular interest to the heresy trials of Gilbert of Poitiers and
Eon d’Etoile or the impressive pageantry of the papal retinue as it moved
through towns.!® Records of the canons promulgated by the council also
survive. Nevertheless, the bulk of our knowledge of the council—particu-

9. Continuatio Gemblacensis, ed. Ludwig Conrad Bethmann, in Monumenta Germaniae
historica inde ab a. C. 500 usque ad a. 1500, Scriptores, 39 vols. (Hannover 1826-2009)—here-
after cited as MGH SS—6:385-90, here 390; Continuatio Mellicenses, ed. William Watten-
bach, MGH SS 9:501-35, here 504; Hiring, “Notes on the Council,” 42; Horn, Eugens III,
p. 203.

10. Eugenius issued at least 35 solemn privileges during the council, suggesting that a
similar number of clerical delegations were present at the council to request them. Horn,
Eugens III, p. 203, n. 964; Balderic, Gesta Alberonis archiepiscopi, ed. Georg Heinrich Pertz,
MGH SS 8 (1848), pp. 243-60, here 254-55; John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 4—
6; Hiring, “Die spanischen Teilnehmer,” 159-71; Hiring suggests that attendance was unen-
thusiastic, noting Eugenius’s resort to threats in order to hold back clerics to remain for the
consistory (“Notes on the Council,” pp. 43—45, 58). This is possible, but the words reservantur
and retentis, used to describe Eugenius’s actions, do not necessarily imply forcible restraint.

11. “Eugenius papa tunc temporis in urbe Remensium concilium aggregavit pontificum
et abbatum Galliae totius in undecim diebus.” Ex Gaufredi de Bruil Prioris Vosiensis Chronica,
ed. Oswald Holder-Egger, MGH SS 26 (1882), pp. 198-203, here 201.

12. Otto of Freising and Rahewin, Gesza Friderici I Imperatoris, ed. Georg Waitz and
Bernhard von Simson, 3rd ed., MGH SRG 46 (1912), pp. 1-346, here pp. 81-82; John of
Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 4-13.

13. Annales Laubienses, ed. Georg Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS 4:8-35, here 23; Contin-
uatio Burburgenses, ed. Ludwig Conrad Bethmann, MGH SS 6:456-58, here 458; Continua-
tio Mellicenses 9:504; Auctarium Lambacenses, ed. Wilhelm Wattenbach, MGH SS 9:555-56,
here 555; Annales Santi Rudberti Salisburgenses, ed. Wilhelm Wattenbach, MGH SS 9:758—
810, here 775; Annales S. Dionysii Remenses, ed. Georg Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS 13:82-84,
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larly its details—comes from the Historia Pontificalis of John of Salisbury
and the Deeds of Frederick Barbarossa of Otto of Freising. It is therefore per-
tinent to take a moment to examine each author, and be aware of their con-
text and motives for writing a history that included the council at Reims.

John of Salisbury’s Historia Pontificalis provides the best window onto
the council: he was an eye-witness to events and well-connected to the
curia. His history is a treasure-trove of information, often including tanta-
lizingly specific details, though it is also difficult to assess. John was a crit-
ical historian, often eschewing divine causation as his immediate concern
and offering multiple possibilities for the human causes behind events. He
even fashioned himself as a sceptic in the mould of Cicero, preferring to
weigh all possible causes rather than rashly adhering to one.!* His history
is also relatively intimate. Rather than constructing a grand, universal nar-
rative, John’s Historia is small in scale, and was likely only designed to be
read by his friend, Peter of Celles.?® He was also well-placed to understand
the complexities of Gilbert of Poitiers’s trial.1¢

But John was not a perfect, impartial witness. It has been argued that
John’s apparent neutrality was at its core a veiled defence of Gilbert, and
that rhetorical training taught him the value of inventing a colorful detail.'”
In other works he made the rather worrying admission (particularly given
that the Historia Pontificalis was written ten years after the events it
recounted) that his memory was less than stellar. Yet even if specific details

here 83; Annalium Salisbruegnsium Additamentum, ed. Wilhelm Wattenbach, MGH SS 13,
236-238, here 238; Annales S. Petri Erphesferdenses, ed. Georg Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS
16:15-25, here 21; Annales Palidenses, ed. Georg Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS 16:48-98, here
83; Annales Catalaunenses ed. Georg Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS 16:488-90, here 489; Annales
Agquenses, ed. Georg Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS 16: 68487, here 686; Annales Rodenses, ed.
Georg Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS 16:688-723, here 720; Annales Brunwilarenses, ed. Georg
Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS 16:724-78, here 727; Annales Colonienses Maximi, ed. Karolus
Pertz MGH SS 17:723-827, here 763-65; Chronik des Gaufredus de Bruil prioris Vosiensis
(Geoffoi de Breuil, Pour von Vigeois), ed. Oswald Holder-Egger, MGH SS 26:198-203, here
201; Annales Oseneienses, ed. Georg Waitz, MGH SS 27:484-503, here 487.

14. Roger Ray, “Rhetorical Skepticism and Verisimilar Narrative in John of Salisbury’s
Historia Pontificalis,” in Classical Rhetoric and Medieval Historiography, ed. Ernst Breisach
[Studies in Medieval Culture 19], (Kalamazoo, MI, 1985), pp. 61-102, here pp. 70-73, 77—
78; John of Salisbury, Policraticus I-1V, ed. Katherine S.B. Keats-Rohan, [Corpus Chris-
tianorum Continuatio Medievalis, 118], (Turnhout, 1993), p. 25; Cary J. Nederman, John of
Salisbury (Tempe, 2005), p. 79.

15. Nederman, John of Salisbury, pp. 75-76.

16. Clare Monagle, “Contested Knowledges: John of Salisbury’s Mezalogicon and His-
toria Pontificalis)” Parergon, 21.1 (2004), 1-17.

17. Monagle, “Contested Knowledges,” 1-17.
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slipped his mind—or other, invented details, were slipped in to take their
place—]John of Salisbury was an eye-witness to the Council of Reims and
his Historia Pontificalis provides an invaluable look at the council’s role in
Eugenius’s pontificate.

Away on crusade, Otto of Freising was not present at the council of
Reims and his account likely does not match the veracity of the Historia Pon-
tificalis. And another mark against him: his desire to emphasize the chaos
prevailing before the advent of his nephew Frederick Barbarossa as emperor
may have caused him to exaggerate the actual level of strife.!® Nevertheless,
Otto was in many ways a fair historian—and as a Cistercian he may have had
some sympathy for Eugenius—and he was well-connected enough to have
heard reports coming out of Reims.!? While details may certainly have been
elaborated (or invented), Otto remains a valuable resource: at very least, he
provides unique insight into what people said and wrote about Reims, and
the public perception of the council to contemporaries.

The council, then, touched on many pressing issues of the mid-twelfth
century. It was a site of liturgical processions, episcopal bickering, decisions
on marriages, and debates about heresy. Attention to how these proceeded,
and how they were used, demonstrates both the powerful potential and
constant complexities that defined Eugenius’s papacy.

Liturgy, Symbolism, Processions

In an era marked by simultaneous centralization and decentralization,
liturgy, symbolism, and processions frequently served to bolster the grandeur
and spiritual authority of the papal office. It is easy, in retrospect, to judge
the import of a council by the trail it left in canon law.?° But it is also impor-
tant to mark the importance of a council’s physical presence and impression
upon contemporaries. Councils were large and expensive affairs filled with
dramatic processions, solemn liturgical celebrations, and impressive pomp.

18. Sverre Bagge, “Ideas and Narrative in Otto of Freising’s Gesta Fredirici,” Journal of
Medieval History, 22 (1996), 34577, here 349, 368.

19. Constant J. Mews, “Accusations of Heresy and Error in the Twelfth-Century
Schools: The Witness of Gerhoh of Reichersberg and Otto of Freising,” in Heresy in Transi-
tion: Transforming Ideas of Heresy in Medieval and Early Modern Europe, ed. Ian Hunter, John
Christian Laursen, and Carey Nederman (Aldershot, 2005), pp. 43-58, here pp. 51-52;
Bagge, “Ideas and Narrative,” p. 370.

20. And, of course, valuable. This argument is not an attempt to aggrandize Reims. But
it is perhaps important to remember that for contemporaries, the import of a council likely
had little to do with later reception by posterity.
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In this sense, the Council of Reims provided Eugenius with an unpar-
alleled opportunity to be viewed as the spiritual leader of Christendom.
Side by side with and often inseparably from the practical business at
Reims, the council was a religious celebration.?! And despite the tendency
for chroniclers to veer into theology, the emphasis on the tangible remains
central in all accounts. The chronicles recount stories of Eugenius blessing
a golden rose, cutting out a carpet square that had been stained by conse-
crated wine, and nearly excommunicating the king of England in a candle-
filled room of clerics. The pope appeared before crowds, surrounded by his
retinue and swathed in dazzling fabrics.?? It is thus impossible to attain a
sense of the council’s importance, or its importance for Eugenius, by look-
ing solely at the canons that survived.

On a simple but important level, the Council of Reims made Eugenius
more visible. As the papal household moved through France and imperial
lands, from Paris to Trier and finally to Reims, it provided a spectacle to
bystanders.?3 Balderic, a cleric at Trier, offers a good example of the
impression the papal retinue must have made. He noted the arrival of the
pope, accompanied by bishops from “every nation under heaven,” and paid
special attention to the papal celebration of Christmas:

What might I report concerning the arriving archbishops, bishops,
abbots, archdeacons, provosts, dukes, and counts coming up to the Lord
Pope at Trier, of whom he left not even one devoid of his generosity?
Who would be able to articulate in words the solemnity of the Lord’s
birth, celebrated at that time in Trier, so that you who did not see it
might be able to comprehend or imagine it?> What pomp of procession
do you think there was on that holy day, when the Lord Pope, riding
with a caparison [cum nacco] with the cardinals and a multitude of bishops

coming before him, on horses draped in white, processed towards the
church of St. Paulinus??*

21. Raymonde Foreville, “Procédure et débats dans les conciles médiévaux du Latran
(1123-1215),” Rivista di storia della Chiesa in Italia, 19 (1965), 21-37, here 29.

22. La documentacion pontificia hasta Inocencio III (965-1216), ed. Demetrio Mansilla
[Monumenta Hispaniae Vaticana, Seccién Registros, 1], (Rome, 1955), p. 96; Balderic, Gesta
Alberonis archiepiscopi, ed. Georg Heinrich Pertz, MGH SS 8: 243-60, here 254-55; John of
Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 7-8, 11.

23. Anne J. Duggan, “The Benefits of Exile,” Eugenius III, ed. Iben Fonnesberg-
Schmidt and Andrew Jotischky (Farnham, forthcoming).

24. “Quid referam de supervenientibus archiepiscopis, episcopis, abbatibus, archidia-
conibus, prepositis, ducibus, comitibus, ad dominum papam Treverim venientibus, quorum
ne unum quidem largitatis reliquit immunem? Natalis Domini sollempnitatem tunc Treveris
celebratam quis ita dictis explicare queat, ut tu, qui non videris, intelligere vel imaginari
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Once the crowd had moved to the church of Saint Peter there were so
many people that a free space more than a foot wide could not be found.?
Nor would Eugenius’s audience have been limited to residents of the cities
through which he passed: many others came to find him on his journey,
particularly the large number of people seeking privileges.?® It is thus not
surprising that councils frequently possessed a mystique that extended
beyond the people who were present, in stories ranging from the council’s
business to the colorful fabrics of the papal retinue.?’

The council also provided Eugenius with opportunities to use its sym-
bolic potential for political ends. One example of this can be seen in a letter
sent to King Alfonso VII of Le6n-Castile. The letter promised the prompt
arrival of a golden rose, blessed by the pope at the council on Laetare
Sunday, so that the king might arrive at the “glory of the resurrection”
through the solace and mercy of Christ.?® Eugenius then lifted the suspen-
sion from the bishops of Alfonso’s kingdom who had not attended the
council. The practice of blessing a golden rose on Laetare Sunday did not
originate with Eugenius: the rose itself dates back to the pontificate of Leo
IX, and possibly earlier, and its blessing on Laetare Sunday appears in the
Liber Politicus (c. 1140).%° The gifted rose was of high artistic value, but also
carried extensive spiritual and symbolic connotations for the recipient. The
rose was known as the most fragrant and lovely of flowers, as often associ-
ated with Christ himself. And it had previous ties to crusading: Urban II
gave a golden rose to Fulk of Anjou while in France after preaching the cru-
sade.3® Yet there is still no record of a rose given in the twelfth century
before Eugenius’s.3! It therefore seems that Eugenius took special advan-

possis? Quam putas pompam processionis in die sancto fuisse, cum dominus papa cum nacco
equitans, precedentibus cardinalibus et episcoporum multitudine, in equis albo coopertis, ad
ecclesiam sancti Paulini processit,” Balderic, Gesta Alberonis, p. 255.

25. “in tota sancti Petri aecclesia nec spacium pedis vacuum reperire posses,” Balderic,
Gesta Alberonis, p. 255.

26. Duggan, “The Benefits of Exile.” (forthcoming; see above, n. 23)

27. Foreville, “Procédure et débats dans les conciles médiévaux du Latran,” 37.

28. “ut ejusdem rosac memoria incitatus, ea quae desunt passionum Christi in corpore tuo
complere cum Domini auxilio satagas; et ipsius solatiante clementia debeas ad resurrectionis glo-
riam pervenire,” JL. 9255; La documentacion pontificia hasta Inocencio III (965-1216), pp. 95-96.

29. Mia Touw, “Roses in the Middle Ages,” Economic Botany, 36 (1982), 71-83, here
76-77; Elisabeth Cornides, Rose und Schwert im pépstlichen Zeremoniell von den Anfiingen bis
zum Pontifikat Gregors XIII (Vienna, 1967), p. 72.

30. Charles Burns, “Rose, Golden,” in The Papacy: An Encyclopedia, ed. Philippe Levil-
lain, trans. Deborah Blaz ez a/ii, 3 (New York, 2002), pp. 1347-48.

31. Cornides, Rose und Schwert, p. 73; James Monti, A Sense of the Sacred: Roman
Catholic Worship in the Middle Ages (San Francisco, 2012), pp. 311-13.
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tage of the council to bless a rose and bestow it upon Alfonso, with whom
he had an ambivalent and often tense relationship. Alfonso was increasingly
concerned about his neighbor Afonso Henriques of Portugal, who had been
angling for a papal endorsement to upgrade his title from dux to rex since
his 1139 victory at Ourique.3? The papacy had not yet obliged, but Afonso’s
recent crusading success at Lisbon and the challenge to Toledan supremacy
from the archbishop of Braga meant that Portugal remained a threat to
Castilian predominance in the peninsula. The golden rose and its accompa-
nying letter, therefore, were an important gesture: Eugenius underlined the
favor he felt towards Alfonso VII, pointedly referred to Afonso Henriques
as the duke of Portugal, and reiterated Toledan primacy.®® The blessing of
the rose at Reims, therefore, allowed Eugenius to underscore the papacy’s
longstanding relationship with Castile in a very public setting.

Opportunities for papal leadership at the council also arose during the
events of the council itself. When the proposal of the thirteenth canon,
prohibiting violence against clerics, caused confusion, Eugenius took the
opportunity to clarify. He stated that a breach of the canon only occurred
with the presence of malicious intent—doormen were still free to stand
against a mob of unruly clerics, and masters were still welcome to discipline
their clerical pupils.** He also served as the judge in the heresy cases of
Gilbert of Poitiers and Eon d’Etoile.>> While the latter trial occurred in
private, the papal review of Gilbert’s work seems to have been public, at
least in part: when the book of one of Gilbert’s students was cut into pieces,
Eugenius explained in the vernacular to a crowd of the laity that the act was
not a statement on the orthodoxy of Gilbert himself.3¢ In these cases,
before both the clergy and the laity, the council allowed Eugenius to stand
in a place of public authority.

The timing of the council also emphasizes its importance: it was called
just as armies were beginning to depart on the Second Crusade to the
East.3” Eugenius’s call for the crusade had attracted Louis VII and Conrad

32. Damian J. Smith, “A Golden Rose and the Deaf Asp that Stoppeth her Ears:
Eugenius III and Spain,” in Eugenius III, ed. Iben Fonnesberg-Schmidt and Andrew Jotis-
chky (Farnham, forthcoming).

33. Smith, “A Golden Rose and the Deaf Asp.” (forthcoming; see above, n. 32)

34. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 9-10.

35. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 21.

36. “multitudo laicorum aderat,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 23.

37. Some armies had already departed by October 1147—the siege of Lisbon was well
underway—but the October summons was still very much in the context of departing crusad-
ing armies.
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III, and it offered the possibility of strengthening the Christian presence in
the Holy Land and expanding the borders of Christianity elsewhere. In
hindsight the crusade seems fractured, a decentralized grouping of armies
only tenuously tied together. The German force split when a group of
Saxon princes turned north across the Elbe to attack the pagan Wends.
Others splintered off to campaign in Portugal, Spain, and North Africa.’
This appears particularly problematic given the crusade’s failure on the east-
ern front.*” Yet while these armies were moving out, an expedition moving
in multiple directions may just as easily have been seen as a positive occur-
rence, a chance to “extend Christianity” in all directions.*’ Eugenius granted
the same crusading privileges to those who fought the Wends and also
approved of Spanish crusading endeavors undertaken by Alfonso VII of
Léon-Castile. By April of 1147, he was referring to the campaigns across
the Elbe, in Iberia, and the Holy Land as all part of the same endeavor.*

The tie between the council and the crusade is strengthened by the
chosen date: March 21, 1148, the fourth Sunday of Lent.*? It had become
common practice to choose a Sunday in Lent when organizing a council,
and Eugenius’s timing may simply have followed contemporary custom.®
However, Eugenius’s selection of Laetare Sunday may have had a larger
significance, give the liturgy’s focus on Jerusalem. The introit, based on Isa.
66:10, urged rejoicing and celebration to those who loved Jerusalem, and
other sections of the liturgy proclaimed the gladness of going “into the
house of the Lord,” comparing the mountains surrounding Jerusalem to
God surrounding His people.* This celebration was long associated with

38. H.E. Mayer, The Crusades, trans. John Gillingham, 2nd edition (Oxford, 1990), pp.
98-100; Giles Constable, “The Second Crusade as Seen by Contemporaries,” Traditio, 9
(1953), pp. 213-79, here pp. 213-15.

39. Mayer, The Crusades, p. 100.

40. Jonathan Phillips, The Second Crusade: Extending the Frontiers of Christendom (New
Haven, 2007), p. 7; Constable, “The Second Crusade,” pp. 22344, 228, 265. Phillips posits
a more active role for Eugenius in organizing the crusade. See The Second Crusade, pp. xxv—
vi, 37-44.

41. JL 9017; PL 180:1203-04; Jonathan Riley-Smith, The Crusades: A History, 2nd edi-
tion (New Haven, 2005): pp. 123—24; Smith, “A Golden Rose and the Deaf Asp” (forthcom-
ing; see above, n. 32).

42. The first two Lateran councils took place on Lenten Sundays, and the Third Lat-
eran Council would as well. JL 9147, 9149; PL 180:1284-85.

43. 1.S. Robinson, The Papacy 1073-1198: Continuity and Innovation (Cambridge,
1990), p. 123; JL 6977, PL 163:1249; Regesta pontificum 1:885; JL 13097, PL 200:1184-5.

44. “Antiph. Lactare Jerusalem, et conventum facite omnes qui diligitis eam: gaudete
cum laetitia, qui in tristitia fuistis, ut exsultetis, et satiemini ab uberibus consolationis ves-
trae. Psal. Laetatus sum in his quae dicta sunt mihi: In domum Domini ibimus. Resp. Laeta-
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the Heavenly Jerusalem more than the Earthly, but the twelfth century
marked an interpretive shift as the celebration increasingly focused on the
physical city. As Sylvia Schien has noted, parts of the liturgy were adopted
for the newly created Feast of the Conquest of Jerusalem.* Therefore, in
light of the recently departed crusading armies, it seems likely that Euge-
nius viewed the council as part of a broader effort towards revitalization
and rejoicing.* As armies departed for the fringes of Christendom, Euge-
nius began to summon prelates from its farthest corners in order to correct
internal errors and bolster potential areas of growth.

In this context of grand processions, symbolic timing, and the promi-
nence of Eugenius’s leadership, the Council of Reims can be read as a
statement on the grandeur of papal authority. The council also proved,
however, that such symbolic authority was only intermittent in its efficacy.
Eugenius’s authority was real, of course. He was the pope in an era in
which the aura of papal power was on the rise. Yet while the Council of
Reims demonstrates the potential reach of papal authority, it also demon-
strates the real and tangible constraints that limited it.

Ecclesiastical Discipline

In the most direct sense, the council at Reims displayed Eugenius as
the ecclesiastical leader of Christendom. According to William of New-
burgh, it was the pope’s primary motivation for the council: he set out for
France because of his devotion to ecclesiastical discipline.*” The pope had
multiple opportunities to assert this leadership, and one of the clearest was
through the institution of reform. The canons promulgated at Reims cover
a wide range of issues, though they are not fundamentally different from
earlier conciliar decrees.*® Precursors can be found at the Lateran Councils

tus sum in his quae dicta sunt mihi: In domum Domini ibimus. Vers. Fiat pax in virtute tua, et
abundantia in turribus tuis. 77ractus. Qui confidunt in Domino sicut mons Sion, non com-
movebitur in aeternum, qui habitat in Jerusalem. Vers. Montes in circuitu ejus, et Dominus in
circuitu populi sui, ex hoc nunc et usque in saeculum,” Gregory I, Liber Antiphonarius, PL
28:667-68; Sylvia Schein, Gateway to the Heavenly Kingdom: Crusader Jerusalem and the
Catholic West (1099-1187), (Farnham, 2005), p. 115.

45. Schein, Gateway to the Heavenly Kingdom, p. 116.

46. Touw, “Roses in the Middle Ages,” 77; Cornides, Rose und Schwert, p. 27.

47. William of Newburgh, Historia rerum anglicarum, ed. Patrick Gerard Walsh and
M.J. Kennedy (Wiltshire, 1988), p. 86.

48. Sacrorum conciliorum nova et amplissima collectio, ed. Giovanni Domenico Mansi, 53
vols. (Paris, 1901-1927), 21:713-20; Les actes de la province ecclésiastique de Reims ou Canons et
décrets des conciles, constitutions, statuts, et lettres des évéques des différentes diocéses qui dépendent
ou qui dépendaient autrefois de la métropole de Reims, ed. Thomas Gousset, 4 vols. (Reims,
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of 1123 and 1139, and the description of the council by the Contiuatio

Gemblacensis emphasizes the canons’ similarity to those of Innocent I1.#

This lack of originality does not imply a failure of leadership. First, one
cannot entirely accuse Eugenius of rote reiteration. Two canons were orig-
inal: the fifth, which prohibited laymen from conducting ecclesiastical
affairs or pronouncing judgments over them, and the sixth, which regulated
the role of advocates of particular churches [advocati], allowing them only
their traditional authority and condemning their agents.”® Two more were
amended from canons from the Second Lateran Council. The final canon
called for action against heretics in Provence and Gascony (the specification
of place was new), and the fourth ordered male and female religious to
remain cloistered, free of property and humble in dress.’! Finally, the other
canons—including a canon ordering bishops to share the names of excom-
municates in their diocese with neighboring bishops, and a canon allowing
bishops to punish clerics who ignored condemnations of their ostentatious
dress after forty days—featured slight changes from the earlier formations,
suggesting a desire to refine reform efforts rather than simply repeating
them.*? There was also simply the selection of which canons to include and
which canons to leave out is also indicative of a program. Michael Horn has
noted that Eugenius had a distinctive approach to reform. There was a
closer focus on monastic issues and the absence of the Second Lateran
Council’s condemnation of clerics studying secular law or medicine suggests
a new attitude towards the educational makeup of the papal court.>3

But more importantly, reiteration of older canons was common for
papal councils in the twelfth century. The canons promulgated by Inno-
cent II at Clermont (1130), Reims (1131), Pisa (1135), and the Second

Lateran Council were largely the same in content.* The focus was often

1843), 2:229-36; Karl Joseph Hefele, Histoire des conciles d'apres les documents originausx, trans.
Henri Leclercq, 11 vols. (Paris, 1907-52), 5/1:823-27.

49. “Inter alia statuit ut decreta Innocentii papae predecessoris sui rata et inconvulsa per-
manerent,” Continuatio Gemblacensis, 504; Gousset, 2:230-36; Decrees of the Ecumenical Coun-
cils, ed. Norman P. Tanner, S.J., (London and Washington DC, 1990), pp. 190-94, 197-203.

50. Sacrorum conciliorum 21:713-20; Duggan, “Justinian’s Laws, Not the Lord’s,”
(forthcoming; see above, n. 2)

51. Horn, Eugens III, p. 208.

52. Duggan, “Justinian’s Laws, Not the Lord’s” (forthcoming; see above, n. 2).

53. Horn, Eugens III, p. 208.

54. Horn, Eugens III, p. 207. Robert Somerville, “The Council of Pisa, 1135: A Re-
examination of the Evidence for the Canons,” Speculum 45 (1970): 98-114, here 109-111;
Martin Brett and Robert Somerville, “The Transmission of the Councils from 1130 to
1139,” in Pope Innocent II (1130—1143): The World vs. The City, ed. John Doran and Damian
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on enforcing established reform efforts more than instituting new ones.
Canons were often frank about their reiteration of older ideas, often
invoking the past authority of Innocent II or using the verb innovare to
suggest an aim of renewing and reinvigorating established canons.” In
addition, departure from the past was not always considered a positive
step in ecclesiastical circles: John of Salisbury’s only real critique of Euge-
nius was prompted by the pope’s attempt to change the rulings of his
predecessors.”® Thus a lack of innovation did not inherently illustrate a
weakness in papal leadership: there was often more authority to be found
in continuity than originality.

Beyond the proclamation of canons, however, papal leadership at the
council became a more complicated endeavour. One arena in which this was
clear was the definitions of power and authority within the ecclesiastical hier-
archy. It is worth noting that in Balderic’s previously-mentioned account of
the ecclesiastical retinue at Trier his open admiration extends across the
assembled prelates. He gazed in reverence at the cardinals and bishops and
abbots as much as he did at the pope. It is tempting to set up this haziness
surrounding the divisions of power in the ecclesiastical hierarchy as an issue
of rivalry and jockeying for power. An element of that was surely present:
John of Salisbury, after all, once remarked that the propensity for Eugenius
IIT’s decisions to be overturned was due to an inborn weakness as well as a
“sickness in his flanks.”” But dissent and diversity of opinion does not nec-
essarily mark papal weakness or inefficacy. Reims shows that even in an era
of ascending papal authority and centralization, the actual exercise of power
was most often an exercise in compromise and collaboration.

One example of this process comes from the case of Bishop Philip of
Tours. Soon after departing from Reims, Eugenius was approached by a
group of Cistercian monks on behalf of Philip, who had been deposed by
Innocent II for having been consecrated by antipope Anacletus II. Euge-
nius seemed willing to listen to his case, “since he had been a monk of that
order.”® Yet when he brought the case before the cardinals, they insisted
that Philip’s sentence remain standing. Philip, after all, had been a schis-

Smith [Church Faith and Culture in the Medieval West] (London and New York, 2016),
pp- 226-71.

55. See canons twelve, fifteen, and seventeen.

56. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 51.

57. Ibid.

58. “quia monachus illius ordinis fuerat,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 43;
John Doran, “Two Popes: The City vs. The World,” pp. 4-26, here p. 22.
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matic and had later made a bold attempt to lead an armed force into St.
Peter’s to obtain the regularization of his consecration from Innocent I11.%
The cardinals’ refusal to readmit Philip into holy orders seems reasonable,
particularly since Innocent’s invalidation of all his rival’s acts had just been
reiterated by Eugenius at Reims.®® It does, however, illustrate how papal
and curial interests could easily clash, even with the best intentions from
both sides. For Eugenius, it may have seemed perfectly reasonable that a
penitent cleric should be considered for reappointment, especially since he
had won the support of a group of Cistercian monks. Yet for the cardi-
nals—many of whom had witnessed the schism first-hand—such a deci-
sion must have seemed rash. Therefore, even when both Eugenius and the
curia were acting for what they perceived to be the broader interests of the
Church, their differing positions in relation to its past could easily put
them at odds.

Another example comes from the clashes over episcopal primacy at
Reims, the first event mentioned in John of Salisbury’s account. When the
archbishop of Lyons claimed primacy over the sees of Rouen, Sens, and
Tours “according to ancient histories,” it seems to have opened up the
floodgates.®! The Archbishop of Vienne then claimed authority over
Bourges—a claim that was declared “mad presumption.” The archbishop
of Bourges, not to be outdone, declared his primacy over the archbishop of
Narbonne, the bishop of Le Puy, and the abbot of Bourg-Dieu. Multiple
prelates—including the bishop of Paris and the archbishop of Sens—
claimed their jurisdiction over neighbouring monasteries.®* And in perhaps
the most controversial claim, the archbishop of Trier decided that there
was no better place to declare his primacy over the archbishop of Reims
than in Reims itself, setting off such a disturbance amongst the French
prelates “that it was impossible to resolve in the public audience.”®

59. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 43. The text states that Philip sought con-
secration from Innocent (consecrationem ab Innocentio petiit). Since he had already received the
sacrament, it is likely that Philip sought the recognition and regularization of his episcopal
status.

60. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 43. See also canon 17 from Reims in
Sacrorum conciliorum, 21:716.

61. “Archiepiscopus itaque Lugdunensis ecclesie, que, sicut apud ueteres hystoricos
legitur, prima Galliarum sedes est, protestatus est Rothomagensem, Senonensem, et Turo-
nensem archiepisopos et prouincias eorum sibi et ecclesie sue iure debere primatus esse
subiectos,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 4-5.

62. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 6.

63. “Sed tantus Francorum clamor subortus est, ut auditui publico non potuerit respon-
deri,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 5-6.
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The event plays out in the Historia Pontificalis as a cacophony of
claims. Eugenius seems to play a minimal role: in John of Salisbury’s
account, he only speaks up to alleviate the concerns of Archbishop
Theobald of Canterbury about Archbishop Henry of York. In this case—
and the case of Philip of Tours—Eugenius seems at first to be over-
whelmed by the voices of the clerics that surrounded him. But at the same
time, another reading is possible in both cases. In the numerous questions
over episcopal primacy, Eugenius effectively tabled the disputes, support-
ing the bishops who complained that they had never been officially or
legally summoned to the council to defend their sees.®* In this light, Euge-
nius is not weak, ineffective, or steamrolled by episcopal hotheads. Instead,
he is exercising his authority to deal with jurisdictional disputes in a calm,
objective manner that would allow all parties to come prepared. In the case
of Philip of Tours, it is also possible to view the decision as one of clerical
collaboration. The contingent supporting Philip was a weighty and influ-
ential one: the restoration received support from “the venerable abbot
[Bernard] and the united congregation at Clairvaux, and from the whole
Cistercian order.” It would not have been a request to deny lightly or flip-
pantly. In this light, it is possible to read the exchange as a deft act of polit-
ical leadership on the part of Eugenius and his cardinals. Unwilling to
ignore the requests of the Cistercian Order (and Bernard at its symbolic
head) but also unwilling to overturn the decision of Innocent II just reiter-
ated at the council, Eugenius perhaps was able to lend an understanding
ear to the Cistercians and prevent unwelcome disputes while still uphold-
ing the decisions of his papal predecessors.

This is not especially rousing or exciting leadership. But it could also
be argued that it was effective leadership, balancing factions and squabbles
during a time in which ecclesiastical authority was overlapping and multi-
faceted. Eugenius would have to rely on similar skills when faced with dis-
putes surrounding an issue that affected the lay as well as the clerical
dimension: marriage.

Marriage

The issue of marriage arose at the council of Reims through the annul-
ment case of Ralph of Vermandois. Ralph was a prominent figure,
seneschal of France and acting as co-regent of the Capetian kingdom with
Suger of St-Denis. He had been married to Eleanor of Blois, the niece of

64. “Atilli prescriptionem longissimi temporis opposuerunt, et quod ad hoc uocati non
uenerunt,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 5.
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Count Theobald IV, until he attempted to repudiate her in favor of
Eleanor of Aquitaine’s sister Petronilla. Though granted an annulment by
the bishops of Noyon, Laon, and Senlis on the grounds of consanguinity,
the repudiation of Eleanor resulted in a protracted war between Louis VII
and the Count of Blois, and in Ralph’s excommunication by Innocent II in
1142.% Despite Theobald’s eventual defeat, the excommunication had
been renewed by Eugenius when he became pope and thus Ralph had once
again come to plead his case at Reims in 1148.%

After years of excommunication, thanks to the help of cardinal deacons
John Paparo of St. Adriano and Gregory of St. Angelo, Ralph finally pre-
vailed, though “not without suspicion of bribery.”” Amid these rumors of
foul play, Ralph took an oath to accept unconditionally the papal ruling and
approached the pope for his decision. After insisting to Eleanor that he was
acting so that she might receive what was owed to her, and be freed from
her difficulties and financial losses, Eugenius lifted the excommunication,
finalized the annulment, and permitted Ralph to remarry.®® John of Salis-
bury portrayed Eugenius as acutely uncomfortable throughout the affair.
He insisted that the case be dealt with in the palace of Reims because he
was hesitant to undertake such actions in an explicitly ecclesiastical set-
ting.®” When the bishop of Laon gave testimony on the newly-discovered
consanguinity of the couple, Eugenius instructed him not to touch the
Gospels when speaking.”® It is not surprising that a pope known to “hold
money as chaff” would bristle at having to decide on a case that seemed to
involve an open exchange of bribes.”! Yet Eugenius was caught in a complex
set of external circumstances: Ralph had already defeated Eleanor’s uncle in

65. Horn, Eugens III, p. 205; John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 12 n.1. For the
complicated back story of Ralph’s two marriages, see Yves Sassier, Louis VII (Paris, 1991), pp.
109-30.

66. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 12 n.1; John T. Noonan, “Bribery in John
of Salisbury,” in Proceedings of the Seventh International Congress of Medieval Canon Law: Cam-
bridge 23-27 July 1984, ed. Peter Linehan, [Monumenta Iuris Canonici, Series C, vol. 8]
(Vatican City, 1988), pp. 197-203, here p. 198.

67. “fretus auxilio et consilio diaconorum cardinalium, Iohannis Papronis [et] Gregorii
de sancto Angelo obtinuit, non sine suspitione interuenientis peccunie.” The cardinal deacons
named by John were John Paparo of St. Adriano and Gregory of St. Angelo. John of Salis-
bury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 12.

68. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 13.
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sententiam decessorum suorum,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 12-13.

70. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 13.

71. “cum pecuniam tamquam paleam dicaris habere,” Bernard of Clairvaux, De consid-
eratione, p. 430.
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battle, and the French crown was pushing for a quick resolution of the case.
John of Salisbury even suggests that both parties had worked out the case
ahead of time, and had simply come to the curia to receive confirmation.”
The curia seems to have yielded to the political practicalities of the matter,
but one gets the sense that Eugenius had to be dragged along. He distanced
himself as much as possible from the ecclesiastical points of the case, and
John of Salisbury portrayed him as deeply reluctant to overturn what he
believed to be a just decision of his predecessors.”

This certainly reads like a defeat for Eugenius. John of Salisbury
describes the case as a rather salacious affair, with the decision worked out
by the cardinals beforehand and with Eugenius too “ashamed” to carry
things out “in the sight of the church.””* But it is enlightening to view
Ralph’s case in the context of two other troubled marriages that came
before Eugenius in the aftermath of the council. In John of Salisbury’s his-
tory, at least, marriage was a particularly important institution to Eugenius.
The pope, often rather stoic or distant in John’s narrative, twice bursts into
tears in his role as ecclesiastical marriage counselor. The first occasion
occurred when Eugenius achieved the (temporary) reconciliation of a
famously troubled marriage—that of Louis VII and Eleanor of Aquitaine
as they were returning from the Second Crusade. Not only did Eugenius
underline the legal validity of the marriage, he also worked to restore its
emotional and spiritual health. He “made them sleep in the same bed,
which he had decked with priceless hangings of his own” and sat and
talked with them during their visit in order to “restore love between them.”
He “heaped gifts upon them” and burst into tears upon their departure.”

Around a year later, Eugenius faced another failing marriage: that of
Count Hugh of Molise and his wife. Though the petition for divorce did
not take place at the council, it is instructive as a comparison to Ralph’s
case. In broad strokes the case looked remarkably familiar to the case of
Ralph and Eleanor. Hugh had obtained widespread political support for

72. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 12-13.

73. Bernard of Clairvaux certainly felt that justice had been abandoned, and promptly
prophesized the imminent end of Ralph of Vermandois’ line. See John of Salisbury, Historia
Pontificalis, pp. 14-15.
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bury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 12.
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Honorauit eos muneribus et tandem in eorum dimissione, quamuis esset homo seuerior, non
potuit lacrimas continere,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 61.
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his separation and, like Ralph, came equipped with the appropriate
bribes.”® The cases looked to be open and shut, and John noted that there
were “not two people to oppose the divorce.””” But just as things were
looking to turn out as they had in 1148, Eugenius took matters into his
own hands. Upon learning that the witnesses had testified in multiple
divorce proceedings, the pope imposed “perpetual silence” on them and
forbade any further attack upon Hugh’s marriage. And then:

bursting into tears, he hastened down from his seat in the sight of all,
great as he was, and prostrated himself before the count so utterly that
his mitre, slipping from his head and rolling in the dust, was found after
the bishops and cardinals had raised him from amidst the feet of the
dumbfounded count.”®

Eugenius then invoked his authority as “the successor of Peter and the
vicar of Christ to whom (unworthy though I am) the keys of the kingdom
of heaven are given” and promised Hugh that he would grant him full for-
giveness of sins if he were to take back his wife with love.”

These are colorful stories and paint a rather endearing picture of
Eugenius as papal marriage counselor. They also illustrate the exercise of
papal authority in a complex arena that included an array of local bishops,
lords, and often the king or queen themselves. Eugenius’s actions at Reims
and beyond illuminate the symbolic and emotional authority of the papacy.
In none of the described cases does Eugenius take a stand and frame his
case around the specifics of canon law. And in none of the cases does
Eugenius take a stand in a manner that is explicitly political. Rather, he
appeals to the couple personally. He urged Hugh to take back his wife
affectionately (benigne) rather than simply legally (non tam iuris obsequens),

76. Hugh came with a retinue of catapans (officials who exercised authority locally in
Norman cities and castles), nobles, and bishops, all with the support of King Roger II. John
of Salisbury, Historia Pontiicalis, pp. 80-81.

77. “Aduocatis et testibus causam instruxerat, corruperat curiam, ut in deliberation
sententie non essent duo qui diuortium dissuaderent,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontiflcalis,
p. 81.
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episcopi et cardinals erexerant, inter pedes stupefacti hominis inuenta est,” John of Salisbury,
Historia Pontificalis, pp. 81-82.

79. “Ecce ego, Petri successor, Christi uicarius, cui (licet indigno) clause regni celorum
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iudicii exigatur dum illi de ceter serues fidem.” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, 82.
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he hosted long conversations with Louis and Eleanor. In both cases, he
provided the couple with personal gifts (bed hangings for the royal couple,

a ring from his own finger in the case of Hugh).®

The long-term effectiveness of these strategies, of course, is question-
able. Louis and Eleanor’s marriage did not last long past their meeting
with Eugenius, and it seems likely that Hugh’s marriage was not perma-
nently reconciled either.! Singular emotional appeals—even from the
pope—perhaps could only last so long against the political and personal
realities of marriage. But Eugenius’s use of these appeals—and his decision
not to use such an appeal at Reims—still demonstrates the exercise of his
authority. His personal intercession was capable of cutting through the tra-
ditional movements of the ecclesiastical hierarchies. But these intercessions
were not permanently binding, and they were not universally applicable. It
is noteworthy that Eugenius did not burst into tears and beseech Ralph of
Vermandois to repair his marriage at the Council of Reims. There are
numerous possible reasons for this—Ralph was in a key political position
as co-regent of France and the consistory in which his trial was heard was
already rife with disputes and factions surrounding the heresy case of
Gilbert of Poitiers. It is possible that Eugenius judged the situation to be
too fraught for a personal intercession.®? In any case, Eugenius’s roles in
settling marital disputes suggests a conception of papal power that was
fluid, ranging from institutional to legal to personal depending on context.

Heresy and the Schools

Perhaps the most complex illustration of papal authority at Reims,
however, came in the consistory trial of Gilbert of Poitiers. Gilbert was a
bishop and scholastic theologian, widely known for his remarkable intellect
and complex theological positions (see Figure 2).8% He had been sum-
moned to Reims to answer concerns raised about his commentary on
Boethius’s De Trinitate. A large and respectable group of clerics was con-

80. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 61, 82.

81. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, ed. Marjorie Chibnall, p. 99.

82. Hugh’s case was in a much different context. The contingent coming in to support
Hugh was largely foreign, coming to the papal court as outsiders. And Hugh, while a count,
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83. John of Salisbury,” Historia Pontificalis, p. 15; Mews, “Accusations of Heresy,” p.
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FIGURE 2: Gilbert of Poitiers. Valenciennes Bibliothéque Municipale MS 197, £.
36v, detail.

cerned by his teachings, either because they clashed with accepted beliefs
or because, “through the newness of their words,” they seemed to do so.3*

The distinction is important. Gilbert’s theology is notoriously complex,
and a full discussion of its intricacies would exceed the scope of this article.
Put briefly, Gilbert’s work applied the precepts of logic and grammar to the-
ology in an attempt to conceptualize how concrete language could be used
to discuss abstract divinity. ® This raised the ire of some of his contempo-

84. “ut sapientibus uidentur reprehensione, uel quia non consonabant regulis, uel quia
ex nouitate uerborum absona uidebantur,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 15.

85. Particularly of concern was the relationship between id quod (that which) and id quo
(that by which). See Paul Thom, The Logic of the Trinity: Augustine to Ockham (New York,
2012), pp. 78-93; Hiring, “The Case of Gilbert de la Poirrée,” 1-40; Christophe Erismann,
“The Medieval Fortunes of the Opuscula Sacra” in The Cambridge Companion to Boethius, ed.
John Marebon (Cambridge, 2009), pp. 155-78; John Marebon, Aristotelian Logic, Platonism,
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raries when it was perceived that such a theology implied a division of God
from the things that made Him divine, or from the concept of divinity
itself.8 It was a complicated notion to grasp even for trained theologians,
and the difficulty behind it illustrates another issue that could complicate
papal authority: the new speculative theology of the schools.

Intellectual progress, of course, was not an inherent threat to papal
authority. Yet scholastics like Gilbert were frequently perceived as a threat,
in part because they were poorly understood and in part because their
works were perceived as gateways to destabilizing roads of thought. The
first problem was that few clerics could understand precisely what Gilbert
was saying. Otto of Freising declared that Gilbert’s language far exceeded
“the common custom of men”; John of Salisbury wrote that it was believed
that the bishop of Poitiers had surpassed all of his contemporaries in all
subjects.’” Even if his theology were spotlessly orthodox, such teachings
must have been unsettling for Eugenius and those around him. It implicitly
posed the question: how could the pope be the arbiter of Christian ortho-
doxy when prominent theologians were using an evolving terminology that
was nearly impossible to understand? Eugenius seemed exhausted by the
case and a decision had to be twice postponed despite the presence of many
qualified theologians.®® Otto of Freising described the pope as affected by
taedium and not understanding all of what was said.® When Bernard
attempted to organize another meeting with Gilbert after the conclusion of
the trial, the bishop refused, instead suggesting that Bernard spend some
time brushing up on his liberal arts education.”” There was a growing sense
among traditional ecclesiastics that the speculative approaches of the

and the Context of Early Medieval Philosophy in the West (Farnham, 2000), p. 343; Clare
Monagle, Orthodoxy and Controversy in Twelfth-century Religious Discourse: Peter Lombard’s
Sentences and the Development of Theology (Turnhout, 2013).

86. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 24.

87. “consuetus ex ingenii subtilis magnitudine ac rationum acumine multa preter com-
munem hominum morem dicere,” Otto of Freising, Gesta Frederici I Imperatoris, pp. 67-68;
“credebatur ipse pocius in uniuersis precedere uniuersos,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontifi-
calis, p. 16; Nikolaus Hiring, “The Cistercian Everard of Ypres and His Appraisal of the
Conflict between St. Bernard and Gilbert of Poitiers,” Medicaval Studies, 17 (1955), 143-172,
here pp. 147-48, 153.

88. Otto of Freising, Gesta Frederici I Imperatoris, p. 68. For an account of the first
attempt to judge Gilbert’s orthodoxy, see Nikolaus Hiring, “Das Pariser Konsistorium
Eugens II1. vom April 1147, Studia Gratiana, 11 (1967), 96-107.

89. “cumque huiuscemodi sermone seu legendi prolixitate dies detineretur, tamquam
tedio affectus Romanus inquit antistes: ‘Multa, frater, dicis, multa et ea fortassis, quae nobis
non intelliguntur,” Otto of Freising, Gesta Friderici I Imperatoris, p. 82.

90. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 26.



KATHLEEN WALKOWIAK 431

schools were operating on a plane—or using a language—that was entirely
unfamiliar to the majority of the clergy.

This trend was compounded by the threat of heresy or social instabil-
ity. It is important to note that Gilbert’s interrogation by Eugenius seemed
at first to focus less on his own writings than on those of one of his stu-
dents.”! Even if a teacher put forth ideas with every orthodox intention,
how could he possibly control how his students would use their complexi-
ties? It seems to have been this danger that sparked the harshest backlash
against Gilbert and other theologians. Gerhoch of Reichersberg
denounced French theologians like Peter Abelard and Gilbert in his Liber
de duabus haeresibus during Eugenius’s pontificate, and a few years later he
was openly equating dialecticians with heretics in his Liber de novitatibus
huius temporibus.”® Similar fears had been expressed a few years earlier as
well, prompted by the writings of Peter Abelard.”* It suggests not so much
a fear of new teachings, but of their unintended consequences, of the pos-
sibility that complex theology liberated from a strict and traditional frame-
work could lead to dissolution, schism, or revolt. Constant Mews has
argued that this was only exacerbated in the case of Abelard by the theolo-
gian’s ties to Arnold of Brescia, and the just-resolved papal schism.” It
does not seem a stretch to suggest that these fears were still alive during
Eugenius’s pontificate, especially since Bernard of Clairvaux retained his
role as spokesman for orthodoxy and Arnold of Brescia still flouted eccle-
siastical authority in Rome.

Thus the trial of Gilbert at Reims in 1148 appears as a whirlwind of
competing interests. Gilbert brought the intellectual uncertainties of the
schools. The College of Cardinals brought their own set of interests. And
of course there was Bernard of Clairvaux, the most famous monk in Chris-

91. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 22-23.

92. “dialectici uel potius heretici,” Gerhoch of Reichersberg, Letter to Pope Hadrian
about the Novelties of the Day, ed. Nikolaus Hiring (Toronto, 1974), p. 37; Gerhoch of Reich-
ersberg, Ex libro contra duas hereses, ed. E. Sackur in Monumenta Germaniae historica inde ab a.
C. 500 usque ad a. 1500 Libelli de lite imperatorum et pontificum, 3 vols. (1891-1897)—here-
after cited as MGH LdL—3:284-88; Mews, “Accusations of Heresy,” pp. 48-49.

93. See especially the correspondence between Bernard of Clairvaux and Henry of
Sens. Jean Leclercq, “Autour de la Correspondance de S. Bernard,” in Sapientiae Doctrina:
Mélanges de théologie et de littérature médiévales offerts & Dom Hildebrand Bascour, O.S.B., ed.
Roland Hissette [Recherches de Théologie Ancienne et Médiévale, 1], (Leuven, 1980), pp.
185-98, here 187-88; Constant J. Mews, “The Council of Sens (1141): Abelard, Bernard,
and the Fear of Social Upheaval,” Speculum, 77 (2002), 342-82, here 364.

94. Mews, “The Council of Sens,” pp. 364, 371-72, 377.
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FIGURE 3. Detail of St. Bernard of Clairvaux from miniature of The Speculum His-
toriale of Vincent of Beauvais (1190-1264), preserved in the Musee Conde, Chan-
tilly, France.

tendom (see Figure 3).” Though supportive of his former pupil, Bernard’s
authority sometimes eclipsed that of the pope: soon after his election,
Bernard opened a letter to Eugenius with the frank admission that some
said “that you are not pope, but I am.”

The accusations against Gilbert went back to at least 1146, when one
of the archdeacons of Poitiers, the somberly-named Arnald Non Ridentis,
publicly criticized the content of one of Gilbert’s sermons.”” The contro-
versy came to Eugenius’s attention while he was still in Italy, but he put off

95. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 14, 16.

96. “Aiunt non vos esse papam, sed me,” Bernard of Clairvaux, Epistolae, in Sancti
Bernardi opera ad fidem codicum recensuerunt, ed. Jean Leclercq, C.H. Talbot, and Henri
Rochais, 9 vols. (Rome, 1957-77), 8:120. The extent to which this was true is of course ques-
tionable. While Eugenius’s Cistercian background may have caused some to wonder about
the abbot of Clairvaux’s influence in Rome, Bernard was also rather prone to grand rhetorical
flourishes.

97. Nikolaus Hiring, “The Writings Against Gilbert of Poitiers by Geoffrey of Aux-
erre,” Analecta Cistercensia, 22 (1966), 3—83, here 4.
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any attempt to reach a decision until the papal household reached Paris in
1147. During this round of debates, Ivo of Chartres and Bishop Rotroux
of Evreux defended Gilbert, while Adam of Petit-Pont and Hugh of
Chamfleury spoke against him.”® No decision was made—in an odd turn
of events, no one seems to have thought to bring along a copy of the
accused writings—and the trial was put off until all parties could reconvene
at Reims. Eugenius also tasked Godescalc, the abbot of Saint-Martin near
Arras, to become well-versed in Gilbert’s teachings.”

By the time of the consistory at Reims, two factions had formed: an
anti-Gilbertine party made up of the archdeacon of Poitiers, Abbot Suger
of St. Denis, Peter Lombard, Robert of Melun, and Bernard of Clairvaux,
as well as a pro-Gilbertine faction consisting primarily of the College of
Cardinals, nineteen of whom were present at the Reims consistory.! John
of Salisbury suggests that many of the cardinals saw the accusations against
Gilbert as a self-serving ploy by Bernard, noting that he had attempted a
similar attack against Peter Abelard several years earlier.!!

Gilbert’s trial was a somewhat gossipy affair, and the eyewitness
sources of John of Salisbury and Geoffrey of Auxerre contradict each other
concerning the order in which events occurred. The chronology used here
is based upon that recounted by John of Salisbury, both because it was
written closer to the time of the council itself (Geoffrey wrote nearly forty
years later) and because he is a less overtly partisan witness.!%?

Before the official trial of Gilbert had begun, Bernard of Clairvaux
called for a meeting in his lodging with high-ranking clerics.!® Eugenius
and his cardinals were not invited.!® Once gathered, Bernard offered a
four-point declaration of orthodoxy as a counter to the four points of

98. Hiring, “The Writings Against Gilbert of Poitiers,” 6.
99. Hiring, “The Writings Against Gilbert of Poitiers,” 6-7.

100. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 15-16, 19-20; Hiring, “The Writings
Against Gilbert,” 8. Only Alberic of Ostia voiced any sympathy with Bernard.

101. “condixerunt ergo fouere causam domini Pictauensis, dicentes quod abbas arte
simili magistrum Petrum agressus erat,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 19.

102. Hiring, “The Writings Against Gilbert of Poitiers,” 9, 11; Christopher Brooke,
“Aspects of John of Salisbury’s Historia Pontificalis” in Intellectual Life in the Middle Ages:
Essays Presented to Margaret Gibson, ed. Benedicta Ward and Lesley M. Smith (London,
1992), pp. 185-95, here p. 186; Ray, “Rhetorical Skepticism,” pp. 79-80; John of Salisbury,
Historia Pontificalis, pp. 16=7. Cf. Monagle, “Contested Knowledges,” pp. 13-14.

103. “uenerabiles uiri qui opinione litterarum et auctoritate religionis uel officii ceteris
preminebant,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 17.

104. Hiring, “The Writings Against Gilbert of Poitiers,” 11-12.
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heresy of which Gilbert was accused.!®® Geoffrey of Auxerre transcribed
Bernard’s words, asking for the consent of the assembled prelates “as it is
customary to do when decrees or laws are promulgated.”% When this was
accomplished, Hugh of Auxerre, Milo of Thérouanne, and Abbot Suger
were selected to bring the document to Eugenius, and Geoffrey stated that
upon delivering it they refused to alter it in any way.'?

The whole situation is somewhat surprising. Before the trial had even
begun, Bernard had taken it upon himself to counter the bishop’s heterodoxy
and to enlist a broad swath of ecclesiastical support. This was all done inde-
pendently of Eugenius’s knowledge or authority, and it was done in a manner
comparable to the promulgation of laws. Bernard’s actions did cause some
unrest: John of Salisbury claimed that the manner in which Bernard was pro-
ceeding was displeasing to the “more thoughtful men” who were present.
Robert de Bosco, the archdeacon of Chilons, requested a delay in the pro-
ceedings given the theological uncertainties of Bernard’s proclamations, and
stated that it would be hasty to rule on such issues without the pope.l®® Yet
the fact that it occurred at all, and seemed legitimate to many, is telling.

When word of the closed-door meeting reached the cardinals, they
were unsurprisingly displeased. Bernard, they noted, had confronted Peter
Abelard in a similar fashion only a few years before. But this time could be
different: unlike Abelard, Gilbert had direct access to the authority of the
apostolic see, which was accustomed to “plucking out the powerless from
the hands of the powerful.”'% Insistent that the abbot not succeed again,

105. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 17-18; Hiring, “The Writings Against
Gilbert of Poitiers,” 11.

106. “quam propositionem excipiens ex ore eius monachus suus Gaufridus Autisiodeo-
rensis scripsit, scriptamque recitauit, subiungens in fine, Placet uobis? quomodo fieri solet ubi
decreta promulgantur aut leges. Et responsum est, Placet,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontif-
icalis, p. 18.

107. “Nos huiusmodi conditionem penitus excludentes sic uobis nostram offerimus ut
noueritis quod in hoc sumus, in hoc perseuerabimus, nichil penitus mutaturi,” Geoffrey of
Auxerre, Epistola ad Albinum Cardinalem et Episcopum Albanensem, ed. Nikolaus Hiring in
“The Writings Against Gilbert of Poitiers,” 76.

108. “displicebat tamen grauioribus modus iste, sed uerebantur abbatem et suos offend-
ere, si non ei gererent morem. . . . Magister Robertus de Bosco, et tam uoce quam manu silen-
tium impetrans, petiit huius responsionis dilationem. . . . Consuluit ergo ut in re tanta non
precipitarent sententiam, presertim cum ab hac diffinitione tanti uiri abstinuerint interrogati,
et dominus papa presens esset et ecclesia Romana; et ad illam conuenerant qui prestantiores
esse uidebantur in orbe Latino,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, pp. 18-19.

109. “condixerunt ergo fouere causam domini Pictauensis, dicentes quod abbas arte
simili magistrum Petrum aggressus erat; sed ille sedis apostolice non habuerat copiam, que
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the cardinals approached Eugenius and told him that Bernard—with the
help of Suger of St Denis—was attempting to win over the leading prelates
so that Eugenius would be powerless to declare Gilbert orthodox without
causing sedition or schism.!? Bernard, however, rushing to the pope to
insist upon his good intentions, urged him to take a strong stand against
the cardinals, lest the weakness in the body be also discovered in the
head.!! The whole situation reads as scandalous, a whirl of factions eager
to gain the upper hand. Otto of Freising offers an even more dramatic
account of the incident. He inserted a speech in the mouths of the College
of Cardinals emphasizing how it was through them that “the axis of the
universal church revolves as if by hinges [cardines] and that Eugenius, as
pope, be “not [his] own, but rather ours.”!!?

All of this looks rather dire for Eugenius. In a long-awaited heresy
trial cardinals insisted that by their power of election, the papacy belonged
to them and that the institutional body of the curia outweighed the whims
or desires of individual popes. Bernard had acted as a quasi-pope at his
secret meeting of the French and English curia, and the Sacred College
had declared that their own authority outweighed Eugenius’s personal
preferences. Gilbert had insisted upon the orthodoxy of positions that
Eugenius—and the vast majority of clergy—did not have the theological
training to understand fully. The accounts show Eugenius buffeted about
by the curia and the leading prelates at the council, disappearing from the
narrative for stretches at a time. But in the end, things were not quite so
dire. The consistory trial ended with Gilbert accepting Bernard’s four
points and agreeing to amend his work, but also with Gilbert avoiding any
official condemnation. It is a balanced, diplomatic ending emblematic of
Eugenius’s role in the council writ large.

consueuit machinationes huiusmodi reprobare et de manu potentioris eruere pauperem,” John
of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 20.

110. John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 20.

111. “accessit ad dominum papam familiariter, exhortens eum ut zelum et animum uir-
ilem indueret in causa Domini, ne langor corporis Christi et fidei plaga deprehenderetur esse
in capite,” John of Salisbury, Historia Pontificalis, p. 20-21.

112. “quod Gallicanae aecclesiae factum tam graviter sacer cardinalium senatus accepit,
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The Council of Reims in 1148 works remarkably well as a case study
of the implementation of papal authority in a period of rapid, multidimen-
sional change. Eugenius III was pope in an era that has often been associ-
ated with the term papal monarchy, but his leadership at Reims illustrates
what a complicated term that can be. To be a pope in the twelfth century
was to be a mediator and counsellor, theologian and lawyer, monarch and
symbol. In this sense, despite Bernard of Clairvaux’s disappointment with
the reform declared at Reims, he perhaps could have been quite proud of
his former pupil. Eugenius IIT’s style of leadership in a conciliar setting was
often quite in line with what Bernard had suggested in De consideratione.
He likened the papal office to a stewardship, a role that Eugenius seemed
to fill quite well.!*® Eugenius’s symbolic and liturgical splendour empha-
sized the glory of the papal office. His personal intercession into mar-
riages—under certain circumstances—retained his role as a shepherd for
his flock. And in political or ecclesiastical disputes, Eugenius often func-
tioned as mediator more than powerful ruler. It is perfectly fair to view this
as a weakness, and judge Eugenius III as relatively ineffectual for his
inability always to enact and enforce his vision. Yet in a century like the
twelfth—full of rapid change and characterized by a multinodal network of
authorities—there is perhaps something to be said for Eugenius IIT’s style
of leadership and its combination of flexibility, caution, and knowing when
to pick one’s battles.

113. “Non enim per omnem reor modum, sed sane quodamtenus, ut mihi videtur, dis-
pensatio tibi super illum credita est, non data possessio,” Bernard of Clairvaux, De considera-

tione, p. 431.



The Roman Inquisition Revisited:

The Maltese Tribunal in the Eighteenth Century
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This article deals with the Roman inquisition in Malta during the
eighteenth century when much of its severity had declined. It presents
evidence from primary sources in Malta’s inquisitorial archives to doc-
ument unique aspects of the Maltese tribunal and, in the process,
demolishes various myths about this institution. It proves that most of
the charges resulted from self—confessions and that the accused would be
arrested only after a prolonged investigation. Though he was not sup-
plied with the names of his accusers these did crop up during interroga-
tion. They were also to be found in the transcript that a defendant was
givven to prepare his defense with and he was even able to confront his
accusers face to face. The defendant was permitted to have a lawyer to
assist him and could bring his own witnesses. Judicial torture was
rarely used and sentences were decided with much circumspection so
that the innocent would not be punished. It is morally incorrect to con-
demn liberty of conscience but it must be said that the Roman inquisi-
tion_followed the rule of law.

Keywords: Malta, Roman Inquisition, denunciation, arrest,
defense, torture, sentence

new study of the procedure of the Roman inquisition may sound at
first out of place if not presumptuous. John Tedeschi, the doyen of
such studies, Adriano Prosperi, Andrea Del Col, Christopher Black, Brian
Pullan, Elena Brambilla, Ruth Martin and Thomas F. Mayer, among
others, have already produced sufficiently remarkable work to deter other
writers.! However, a new attempt is worth trying for three reasons. First, it
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will introduce aspects of the inquisitorial procedure which may have been
neglected or only partially addressed by other historians, or which are pecu-
liar to the Maltese tribunal. Second, interest in the history of the inquisition
seems far from being exhausted. Third, hopefully this study may serve to
alert scholars to the rich deposits of the Maltese inquisitorial archives.

This work is based on data found mostly in the cathedral museum at
Mdina. These records have survived because the intention of the French
troops in 1798 to burn them was defeated by Bishop Vincenzo Labini
(1780-1807), who had the records transferred to his palace at Valletta.?
These archives were opened to the public under the direction of Mgr. John
Azzopardi in 1968, or thirty years before Pope John Paul 1T (1978-2005)
opened those of the Holy Office in Rome to researchers.’ The trial dossiers
or court proceedings, 172 volumes in all, are supplemented by thirty-eight
volumes of correspondence between the inquisitors in Malta and the car-
dinal inquisitors of the Suprema Sagra Congregazione del Sant’Ufficio at
Rome. The rough notes taken by the tribunal’s chancellor recording the
consultors” decisions are helpful as well.* Reference to the material at the
Archivio della Congregazione per la Dottrina della Fede (ACDF) at the Vat-
ican is minimal, considering the almost complete repository at Malta.
Comparatively not much use was made of the inquisitors’ manuals so as to
observe the tribunal’s “style” or raw practice at first hand, in basic practice
rather than in theory.

The Maltese Tribunal

The tribunal was set up in Malta in 1561 after the discovery of pockets
of crypto-Protestants at Mdina and Birgu.® The members of this “Confra-
ternity of Good Christians” read Luther, Erasmus, Melanchthon, and
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cited as AIM, Proc.) 136A, fol. 271r.

5. For these manuals, see A. Errera, “Manuali per inquisitori,” in Adriano Prosperi,
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FIGURE 1. The Inquisitor's Palace. Birgu, Malta. Print by J. Johnston, taken from
the book by William Tallack, Malta under the Phoenicians, Knights and English,
London, 1861. Credit: Heritage Malta.

parts of the bible in Italian.” Bishop Domenico Cubelles (r. 1541-66) was
its first inquisitor. He was followed by Mgr. Martino Royas (r. 1572-77)
but in 1574 Pope Gregory XIII (r. 1572-85) sent Mgr. Pietro Duzina to
Malta as apostolic visitor but also as inquisitor. Mgr. Duzina wrested
therefore the office from the ordinary.® From then onward one Italian
inquisitor belonging to the secular clergy followed another until the closure

of the tribunals in 1798.

Inquisitors in Malta were representatives not only of the Holy Office
but also of various other congregations. They counseled, for instance, the
Congregazione de Propaganda Fide on its choice of missionaries, whom
they sometimes helped financially, on their way to, say, Aleppo or

7. AIM, Proc. 3B, fol. 473r; AIM, Memorie 12, fols. 16v—18v.
8. Frans Ciappara, Society and the Inquisition in Early Modern Malta (Malta 2001). For
the establishment of local tribunals see Black, The Italian Inquisition, pp. 27-48.
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Mosul.” They were also commissioners of the Congregazione della Rev-
erenda Fabbrica di San Pietro, which saw that pious legacies left by testators
were minutely observed.!® Starting in 1637 they administered the school of
Arabic, which Inquisitor Fabio Chigi (r. 1634-39) instituted that year to
train missionaries for the Levant.!’ They were also nuncios, in which
capacity several of them served in other countries after they left Malta,
their stay on the island being a stepping-stone in their ecclesiastical career.
Two of them became popes, twenty-five cardinals and eighteen bishops.
Being the pope’s representatives in Malta, which was governed by a chival-
ric Order composed of the most distinguished European nobility, the
inquisitors could not afford to be of common birth (di veruna nascita) but
had to belong to families that could command the esteem and respect of
these proud aristocrats. It was for this reason, too, that they counted
among their patentees or dependants several Maltese nobles.!

It is only as judges of faith that these figures are treated in this article.
However, as in Friuli and Spain, by the eighteenth century they were no
longer occupied with Protestants. As at Lucca, these northern reformers
remained under the watchful eye of the tribunal lest “they disseminated
great errors in this island and impressed several heresies upon the hearts of
the uneducated.” But now the inquisition’s former urgent concern with

9. Mgr. Gallarati Scotti was entrusted with obtaining information about padre maestro
Chircop who had been proposed as Provinciale d'Oriente, or prefect of the missions of the
Franciscan minors at Constantinople. The inquisitor was asked whether he could confirm his
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respondence (Corr.) 39, fol. 56r, Cardinal Antonelli to Mgr. Gallarati Scotti, 4 Sept. 1789.
With regard to Aleppo, see AIM, Corr. 36, fol. 208r, Cardinal Sacripanti to Mgr. Ruffo, 17
June 1724; with regard to Mosul, see AIM, Corr. 38, fols. 28r—v, Cardinal Castelli to Mgr.
Zondadari, 27 March 1779.

10. A. Deguara, “The Reverenda Fabbrica di San Pietro Dell'Urbe in Malta,” in Mario
Buhagiar, ed., Proceedings of History Week 1982 (Malta, 1983), pp. 69-88.

11. For a general though in many ways incomplete history of the school, see A. Cre-
mona, L’Antica Fondazione della Scuola di Lingua Araba in Malta (Malta, 1955). For a com-
prehensive study of the school in the late eighteenth century, see F. Ciappara, “The School
of Arabic in Malta 1772-1795,”The Sunday Times (3 July 1983), p. 9.

12. Ciappara, The Roman Inquisition, pp. 41-77, 126-29.

13. On Friuli: L. De Biasio, “I’Eresia Protestante in Friuli nella Seconda Meta del
Secolo XVI1,”Memorie Storiche Forogiuliesi, 52 (1972), 71-154, here 135. On Spain: B. Ben-
nassar, “Un Dialogue Difficile: Les Inquisiteurs et les Marins Protestants de 'Europe du
Nord,” in La Vie, la Mort, la Foi (Paris, 1993), pp. 167-75. On Lucca: G. Torri, “I Rapporti
fra lo Stato e la Chiesa a Lucca nei Secoli XVI-XVIIL,”Rassegna degli Archivi di Stato 36, no.
1(1976), 37-81, here 55-56. On the northern reformers: “. . . quanto prima s’udirebbero dis-
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AIM, Corr. 94, fol. 143v, Mgr. Caracciolo to Cardinal Marescotti, March 26, 1709.
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them was a thing of the past. Its interests, as the author of a seminal book
has pointed out, lay nearer home, with its own faithful, practicing a form of
debased religion and in need of instruction in the true faith.! In the period
1573-81 the share of Catholics who turned Protestants accounted for 41.9
percent of all cases dealt with by the tribunal, followed by the eating of meat
on prohibited days (8.7 percent) and the reading of forbidden literature (8.7
percent).’® But between 1744 and 1798, blasphemy and witchcraft had
replaced conversion to Protestantism as the leading cause of prosecution.
The two “heresies” made up 33.3 per cent and 28.9 percent respectively of
all cases, whereas cases involving conversion to Protestantism dropped to
only 3.8 percent.!® The same can be said of Venice. There were 767
“Protestant” cases (62.4 percent) between 1547 and 1585, but from 1721 to
1794 only two such cases were recorded. Prosecutions for conversion had
been replaced by cases involving “heretical propositions,” which rose from

62 to 105 cases (or from 5.0 to 8.5 percent).!”

But if; as in other tribunals, the principal offenses featured in accusa-
tions differed over time, the Holy Office in Malta was still thriving at its
demise in 1798, even if an unsuccessful attempt was made in 1784 to abol-
ish it.’® This was the time of the Enlightenment when philosophes urged
kings to “uproot for ever this noxious and poisonous plant.”* In Parma,
Prime Minister Léon Guillaume Du Tillot (r. 1759-71) abolished the
inquisition in 1769, and Modena followed suit ten years later. In 1775
Maria Theresa of Austria (r. 1740-80) ordered that inquisitors in Lom-
bardy were not to be replaced after their death. In Sicily, when the inqui-
sition ended in 1782, the viceroy, Marquis Domenico Caracciolo (1715-
89), cried with joy when “this terrible monster” was abolished.?’ However,
if “the various branches of the Roman inquisition were somnolent” in Italy,
in Malta the tribunal remained active until its abolition in 1798.2!

14. Martin, Witchcraft and the Inquisition in Venice, p. 216.

15. Charles Cassar, “The First Decades of the Inquisition, 1546-1581,” Hyphen 4, no.
6 (1985), 207-238, here 224.

16. Ciappara, Society and the Inquisition, Table 2.2, p. 90.

17. Calculated from data in Gustav Henningsen and John Tedeschi, eds., The Inquisi-
tion in Early Modern Europe: Studies on Sources and Methods (Dekalb, I11., 1986), Appendix 1,
p. 144,

18. Ciappara, The Roman Inquisition, pp. 190-91.

19. M. A. Schipa, I/ Regno di Napoli al tempo di Carlo Borbone, vol. 2 (Milan-Rome-
Naples, 1923), p. 140.

20. Del Col, LInquisizione in Italia, pp. 730~34; Black, The Italian Inquisition, pp. 54-55.

21. E. W. Monter and J. Tedeschi, “Towards a Statistical Profile of the Italian Inqui-
sitions, Sixteenth to Eighteenth Centuries,” in Henningsen and Tedeschi, eds., The Inguisi-
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The Inquisitorial Procedure

In the Middle Ages a criminal prosecution could be initiated in one of
two ways. The rimedium ordinarium was the accusatory method by which the
defendant was brought to trial on the private initiative of the plaintiff. In
this legal procedure the accuser himself suffered the poena talionis, or the
punishment that would have been meted out to the defendant, if the
accused failed to be found guilty. This process contrasted with the inguisi-
torial procedure under which the authorities collected information to dis-
cover crimes, identified the defendants, and brought charges against them.??

The responsibility for this legal development must rest squarely with
the Church which in 1215 at the Fourth Lateran Council under Innocent
IIT (r. 1198-1216) eliminated trial by ordeal from church courts.?> The
transition to the use of witnesses as the principal means of proof was one
of the most important results of the reception of Roman law. Judicial
proofs by ordeals had come to be seen as impious because it required the
miraculous intervention of God and thus constituted a flagrant tempting
of Him.?* Besides this theological rationale, such legal development also
reflected the general movement towards rational legal procedure, which
characterized the intellectual revival of the twelfth century.?® Furthermore,
the Church needed a surer means of dealing with the upsurge of heresy at
that time.?® Innocent III decreed that an inquisition must start per clam-

tion in Early Modern Europe, p. 133. See also G. Romeo, L’Inquisizione nell'ltalia Moderna
(Rome-Bari, 2002), pp. 95-119. On the activity of the Malta tribunal, see Ciappara, Society
and the Inquisition, Table 2.1, p. 66.

22. N. Eymeric, Directorium Inquisitorum cum commentariis Francisci Pegnae (Rome,
1578), pp. 284-85. S. Abbiati, “Intorno ad una possible valutazione giuridico-diplomatica del
documento inquisitorio,” Studi di Storia Medioevale e di Diplomatica, no. 3 (1978), 167-79.

23. ]. H. Langbein, Prosecuting Crime in the Renaissance: England, Germany, France
(Cambridge, MA, 1974), pp. 129-39. H. A. Kelly, “Inquisition and the Prosecution of Heresy:
Misconceptions and Abuses,” Church History, 58, no. 4 (1989), 439-451, here 439-42.

24. For these several kinds of ordeals, see Francois Louis Ganshof, Frankish Institutions
under Charlemagne, trans. Bryce and Mary Lyon (Providence, Rhode Island, 1968), pp. 86-89.

25. On the theological rationale, see J. W. Baldwin, “The Intellectual Preparation for
the Canon of 1215 against Ordeals,” Speculum, 36, no. 4 (1961), 613-36. On the general
movement toward rational legal procedure, see S. Kuttner, “The Revival of Jurisprudence,” in
R. L. Benson, G. Constable, and C. D. Lanham, eds., Renaissance and Renewal in the Twelfth
Century (Cambridge, MA, 1991), pp. 299-323. On the intellectual revival of the twelfth cen-
tury, see C. H. Haskins, The Renaissance of the Twelfth Century (Cambridge, MA, 1927).
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Criminal Justice in Western Europe, 1300-1800: An Essay in Structure,” Criminal Justice
History, 1 (1980), 3-28, here 9-13.
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orem et famam, that is “through a public outcry or at least strong rumours
that an offense had been committed by a particular person.”” In 1759,
therefore, the captain of the Holy Office at Malta reported that if was being
said that during a performance of Goldoni’s comedy I/ padre di famiglia one
of the actors playing the part of the doctor, had eaten a piece of roast
chicken on a day of abstention.?8

Over time, however, investigations started to be opened generally by a
denunciation.?® Cardinal Pietro Otthoboni, who served from 1726 to 1740 as
the secretary of the Holy Office at Rome, warned Inquisitor Ludovico
Gualtieri (r. 1739-43) in 1739 that this was the only procedure with which to
start proceedings.3® The tribunal in Malta had no police force and was there-
fore dependent to a very large extent upon ordinary lay men and women.?!
However, although preachers regularly reminded the faithful that the “silence
with which they try to hide their own and others’ errors is the same as infi-
delity” and that among these “occult heretics” were those who substituted
denunciation with “fraternal correction” (correctio fraterna), the picture that
emerges on reading the dossiers shows that in Malta, as in Lorraine and rural
Spain, people were not eager to mind their neighbors’ business.>?

There were several reasons for this lack of cooperation with the Holy
Office. For one, good neighborliness was a critically important social virtue
and solidarity with the members of one’s community could prove greater

27. Eymeric, Directorium Inquisitorum, p. 311.

28. AIM, Proc. 124C, fols. 1476r-1484v.

29. Eliseo Masini, Sacro Arsenale, overo Prattica dell Officio della S. Inquisitione ampliata
(Genoa, 1625), pp. 14-18; Mayer, The Roman Inquisition, pp. 166-71.

30. AIM, Correspondence (Corr.) 27, fol. 45r, Mgr. Otthoboni to Mgr. Gualtieri,
Dec. 12, 1739.

31. SaraT. Nalle, “Inquisitors, Priests and the People during the Catholic Reformation
in Spain,” The Sixteenth Century Journal, 18, no. 4 (1987), 55786, here 567.

32. On the warning of preachers: “Come volete che non chiami mezzi Cristiani coloro
i quali fanno cosi poco caso degli editti del nostro Prelato? Come non li tacci d’infedelta quel
silenzio col quale procurano di nascondere i propri difetti e di coprire gli altrui errori?” (Archi-
vio Segreto Vaticano, Segrereria di Stato (Malta) 186, fols. 143r—150v). For the theological
debate around fraternal correction and related terms in sixteenth-century Spain, see Stefania
Pastore, “A proposito di Matteo, 18, 15, Correctio Fraterna e Inquisizione nella Spagna del
Cinquecento,” Rivista Storica Italiana, 113, fasc. 11 (2001), 323-68. On inquisition activity
and lay reactions to it in Lorraine, see R. Briggs, “Witchcraft and Popular Mentality in Lor-
raine, 1580-1630,” in B. Vickers, ed., Occult and Scientific Mentalities in the Renaissance (Cam-
bridge, UK, 1984), 337-49, here p. 344. H. Kamen, Inquisition and Society in Spain in the Six-
teenth and Seventeenth Centuries (London, 1985), pp. 166—67.
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than the duties of conscience.® This was especially the case when the
accused happened to be someone most dear to the accuser, say a brother or
husband.®* Fear of reprisal must have been another reason why people
refused to report “heretics.”>® The Tribunal being conscious of this danger,
the bull §i de protegendis published by Pius V on May 2, 1569 threatened to
impose severe penalties on anyone who obstructed the work of the inquisi-
tors.3® This suspicion was not at all unfounded; although Grazio was a habit-
ual blasphemer, the “people are so much afraid of him.”” People either
refused to report “heretics” at all or else gave their evidence only on compul-
sion. To ensure cooperation, confessors would sometimes refuse to absolve
their penitents unless they presented themselves before the inquisitor.%

But if the people were reluctant to be their brothers’ keepers, they did
not ignore their duty to report themselves. Most of the charges, in fact, as
Megr. Giacinto Messerano (r. 1698-1703) testified in 1701, were self—
denunciations;* between 1754 and 1759 they amounted to 66.8 per cent.*
People generally made their denunciations, as they put it, “for conscience’s
sake” (per discarico di mia coscienza), but this was not necessarily an expres-
sion of pure religious sensibility.* They must have realized that if they
appeared spontaneously before the inquisitor they would be welcomed as
sponte comparente and could expect charitable treatment. As soon as they
knew that suspicions were piling up against them, they tried to forestall an

accuser and prevent being summoned to stand a formal trial.*

33. See Frans Ciappara, “Religion, kinship and godparenthood as elements of social
cohesion in Qrendi, a late-eighteenth-century Maltese parish,” Continuity and Change 25,
part 1 (2010), 161-84.

34. AIM, Proc. 137, fols. 161r—v.

35. AIM, Proc. 135B, fol. 637r.

36. See, for instance, AIM, Proc. 68A, fols. 24r—26r.

37. AIM, Proc. 135A, fol. 29r.

38. AIM, Proc. 136A, fol. 189v. That the inquisitor was a judge and not a confessor,
see Prosperi, Tribunali della coscienza, pp. 476-84; Wietse de Boer, La conquista dellanima.
Fede, disciplina e ordine pubblico nella Milano della Contrariforma (Turin, 2004), pp. 56-58;
John Martin, Venice’s Hidden Enemies: Italian Heretics in a Renaissance City (London, 1993),
pp- 185-87.

39. AIM, Corr. 94, fol. 39v, Mgr. Messerano to Cardinal Marescotti, Aug. 27, 1701.
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61.
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185-86.

42. AIM, Miscellanea (hereafter cited as Misc.) 2, pp. 4-5. See also E. Brambilla,
“Spontanea comparizione (Procedura sommaria),” in DSI, vol. 3, pp. 1474-475 and Del Col,
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Arrest and Cross-examination

The decision to arrest a suspect did not come quickly, but only after
much painstaking research.** A case would not proceed on the strength of
a single accuser** and if witnesses did not corroborate the reports the case
“does not merit further attention.”* Nor did the inquisitors heed charges
made by enemies of the defendant.** No wonder that only 9.6 of the
accused between 1743 and 1798 were detained after interrogation.*” As an
example of the tribunal’s circumspection, we have the case of Nicola Aielli,
a baptised slave who was popularly known to be a sorcerer. He was arrested
in 1797 only after two and a half years and after ten accusers had testified
against him.*

The slow pace with which cases moved is an eloquent testimony to the
inquisitors’ hesitancy and their determination to arrive at the truth. The
number of testimonies could mount quickly, lengthening the time of the
investigation. It could also happen that witnesses who could not be found
in Malta were obliged to return from abroad.” Bigamy cases required the
examination of the death and marriage registers, which could mean request-
ing information from foreign countries.’® Such was the case, too, with apos-
tates, when the inquisitor demanded their baptism certificates.’! In a case
from 1714, an accusation of witchcraft made it necessary to check with Fra
Marc’Antonio Muriani’s superiors in Italy whether he was really a friar
minor.’2 And in some cases the ministers of the tribunal traveled to the
scene of the crime to carry out an inquest to search for material evidence.
On November 20, 1757 the court’s prosecutor, the chancellor, the captain
and four marshals made a diligent search of the residence of Aloisio Locchi,
an alchemist from St Helen’s. In addition to suspicious books “harmful both

43. AIM, Corr. 2, fol. 123r, Cardinal Arigone to Mgr. Carbonese, January 28, 1611.

44. AIM, Corr. 8, fol. 137r, Cardinal Barberini to Mgr. Gori Pannellini, January 14,
1645.
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49. AIM, Corr. 95, fols. 12r—v, Mgr. Stoppani to Cardinal Otthoboni, Jan. 3, 1733.
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52. AIM, Corr. 20, fol. 105r, Cardinal Spada to Mgr. D’Elci, Jan. 6, 1714.
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to the soul and the body,” they found sheets of paper covered with circles,
crosses, Hebrew letters and Latin writings, as well as another sheet with a
circle and several numbers.> In a case from 1745, Don Silvestro Bruno, the
parish priest of the Greek Catholic church at Valletta, was accused of
administering the sacraments to the Orthodox Greeks. Don Ignazio
Temmen was commissioned by Mgr. Paolo Passionei (r. 1743-54) to spy
on Bruno; Temmen noticed that while celebrating Mass Fr. Bruno left out
the words filioque procedit while reciting the Creed.>*

Only after sufficient information had been gathered in such a prelimi-
nary investigation (processo informativo) could proceedings against the
accused be initiated.” There is no doubt that a suspect faced two great dis-
abilities on being arrested. First, contrary to Innocent III's injunction that
“no one is obliged to betray himself,” the oath which the accused took to tell
the truth put him at high risk of either perjuring or incriminating himself.
This risk was made explicit to Inquisitor Antonio Ruffo (r. 1720-28) in 1726
when he was reminded that though the Roman council of the preceeding
year>® had ordered that in criminal matters the accused were not to take the
oath de wveritate dicenda, this exemption did not apply to matters of faith.5”
Second, defendants were not served with a writ describing the nature of their
crime or the names of the accusers®® when they were cited by the marshal.*’

This is all true. However, in a community practicing face-to-face rela-
tions, it was easy to get to know one’s denouncer especially if, as generally

53. AIM, Proc. 124B, fols. 686r-87v.

54. AIM, Proc. 122A, fols. 17r—66v.
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Toronto Press, 2012), pp. 7-10. For a full exposition, see ch. 5 of his Roman Inquisition, pp.
155-205. See also V. Lavenia, “Processo,” in DSI, vol. 3, pp. 1261-63.
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happened, some personal litigation had taken place.®® As Brian Pullan has
long ago pointed out, it was not difficult for the accused to guess from the
circumstances of the case who had informed against him.®! Take the case
of Don Giovanni Balzan, who was accused in 1755 of solicitation in the
confessional.®? He was not told who the accusers were, but it was easy for
him to remember them when Mgr. Gregorio Salviati (1754-59) asked him
whether Balzan had ever told any of his penitents, “Your face attracts
people” and “Send away whoever comes to your house so that I will come
to torment you.”®> Besides, as will be argued later on, secrecy was not per-
sistently kept by the court and names did crop up in interrogations. Henry
Charles Lea must be wrong then in calling the retaining of the accusers’
names “the crowning infamy of the inquisition.”®*

Generally everybody complied with the summons, plausibly because
those who declined became liable ipso facto to excommunication.®® Time-
consuming trials, sometimes continued late in the afternoon,® were meant
to take their toll on the defendant’s power to resist. Nevertheless, if, as
Grendler says, shrewd and persistent questioning was “the heart of inquisi-
torial procedure™’ cross-examination had to be managed with great skill
and prudence since the “honor of the defendant” depended on it.%® The
picture that Adriano Prosperi draws that questioning was “a conflict, a test
of force, especially a test of astuteness” is unreal in the Maltese context.®’
Questions followed one another naturally, the inquisitor taking the hint for

60. M. Duni, Under the Devil’s Spell. Witches, Sorcerers, and the Inquisition in Renaissance
Italy (Syracuse, New York 2007), pp. 64-65.
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65. For three exceptional cases when the accused defaulted on their obligation to
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66. AIM, Proc. 136A, fols. 384r-93v.
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the next query from the words of the defendant himself. Suggestive ques-
tioning, which the accused simply affirmed or denied, constituted “a most
grave crime.”’”® We can follow Inquisitor Salviati questioning Imhammet.
This slave was accused in 1755 of having conducted magical experiments
together with Giuseppe Pace to find a statue of a golden cow and another
of a silver calf in the catacombs of Rabat. Inhammet denied the charge but
how long would he withstand the logical force of pressing questions made
by a penetrating inquisitor?

Had he left Valletta these last ten months?

Perhaps he had been to Rabat?

For what reason and with whom?

Did he know Giuseppe Pace who lived behind the Jesuits’ college?

And did they go together to some place where they stayed for two days?

This was the time when Imhammet collapsed: “I'm ready to tell you the
truth.””!

The unusual and overpowering setting prevented most prisoners
from putting up a vigorous defence.”? This was not invariably so and an
apostate would defiantly tell the inquisitor, “I want neither to curse the
sect of Mohammad nor to return to Christianity. I simply want to remain
a Turk.”” In an extremely rare case, Antonio Pace defended himself by
his silence. This 35-year old man from the island of Gozo was arraigned
before Mgr. Fabrizio Serbelloni (r. 1728-30) in 1729 for witchcraft. Pace
refused to answer the interrogations put to him and all the efforts of the
Domincan Fra Vincenzo Farrugia to persuade him to talk proved futile.
The tribunal’s notary put down “he remained silent and did not answer
anything” (facuit et nullum responsum dedit).”* The inquisitor asked for
instructions from Rome “since such dumbness has never occurred in this
tribunal” but unfortunately the trial dossier provides no further informa-
tion.”
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Whatever may have been Antonio’s fate, another form of defense was
for the defendant to plead wrong identity, that he was being mistaken for
someone else. In this case he was placed in the courtyard of the inquisitor’s
palace’ or in the middle of the stairs in front of the court room. He kept
his body erect and his head high while his accusers tried to identify him
through a window or the door’s peep-hole.”” However, Cardinal Francesco
Barberini (1597-1679) warned Mgr. Ranuccio Pallavicini (r. 1672-76) in
1674 that this type of identification “is certainly suggestive.”’® Instead, 65-
year-old Gaetano Schembri of Valletta in 1793 was put between Lorenzo
and Giovanni Vella while Michel’Angelo Labruna testified:

The one with the moustache between the other two persons, of the same
height and appearance, is the same Gaetano whom I have often
denounced. He has the scapular of Our Lady of Carmel round his neck

and wears a pair of trousers of fustian cloth.”

It is worth noting at this point that in order to give the defendant a
fair hearing the court would even waive one of its most cherished princi-
ples, secrecy.®’ Upon his arrival in Malta each new inquisitor administered
the oath of secrecy to the tribunal’s officials not to reveal what was said
and done concerning the Holy Office.8! And all depositions ended with
such an oath, Quibus habitis eique iniunctum juramentum silentii. But this
preoccupation notwithstanding, according to the author of the manual
Malleus Maleficarum (Hammer of the Witches, Speyer, 1486), a still hesitant
inquisitor could put a convicted but an unconfessed “heretic” face to face
with his accuser.8? This procedure was in full accord with Innocent IIT’s

and Cardinal Carlo Borromeo’s injunctions®® even if the Directorium
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Proc. 137, fol. 201v.
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Inguisitorum® and the Sacro Arsenale as well as the Pratica per Procedere
nelle Cause del Sant’Officio counselled that it be used only rarely and if
there was no danger to the witnesses.® One such case of confrontation
from 1794 concerned Vincenza Sacchett of Senglea who claimed she had
bribed her parish priest Don Salvatore Bonnici to stop the Holy Office

start criminal proceedings against her:

Don Salvatore What Vincenza said in my presence is false, most false.

Vincenza I said all I knew under oath. I did not appear in the tri-
bunal of my own free will, but on being summoned

Don Salvatore She can say what she wants. It will never be proved that
I have said and done what Vincenza asserts.%

The inquisitors, as the representatives of the Holy Office, depended
entirely on their superiors at Rome and constantly sought their guidance.®”
Nicholas S. Davidson begs to differ and claims that inquisitors “were in
reality independent operators.”® Giuliana Ancona, a student of the tribu-
nal of Aquileia and Concordia, is more cautious and only says that auton-
omy from Rome was a “possible choice.”® All the same, independent
action by the inquisitors was an exception and, as Giovanni Romeo claims,
subordination by local inquisitors to central control was “a typical aspect of
the Roman Inquisition;” and furthermore this “decidedly limited auton-
omy” is corroborated by Gian Luca d’Errico and Jeffrey R. Watt.”

84. For this manual see Agostino Borromeo, “A Proposito del Directorium Inquisito-
rium di Nicolas Eymerich e delle sue Edizioni Cinquecentesche,”Critica Storica 20, no. 4
(1983), 499-547.

85. Eymeric, Directorium, p. 405; Masini, Sacro Arsenale, p. 233; AIM, Misc. 2, pp.
76-77.

86. AIM, Proc. 136A, fols. 86r—v. For other instances see AIM, Proc. 22D, fol. 1373r;
AIM, Proc. 26A, fols. 296v—97v; AIM, Proc. 56B, fols. 1137r-39v; AIM, Proc. 73B, fol.
600r; AIM, Proc. 95A, fols. 428r—v; AIM, Proc. 155, fol. 109r. AIM, Proc. 156, fols. 69r—v.

87. A. Battistella, I/ S. Officio e la Riforma in Italia (Bologna, 1905), pp. 654—68; Guido
Dall’'Olio, “I Rapporti tra la Congregazione del Sant’Officio e gli Inquisitori nei Carteggi
Bolognesi (1573-1594),” Rivista Storica Italiana, 105 (1993), 246-86; Carla Righi, “L’Inqui-
sizione Ecclesiastica a Modena nel *700,” in A. Biondi, ed., Formazione e Controllo dell Opi-
nione Pubblica a Modena nel 700 (Modena 1986), pp. 53-95, here p. 56.

88. Nicholas S. Davidson, “The Inquisition,” in Alexandra Bamji, Geert H. Jansen,
and Mary Laven, eds., The Ashgate Research Companion to the Counter-Reformation (Surrey,
2013), 102.

89. Giuliana Ancona, “Autonomia giudiziaria e¢ dipendenza amministrativa del
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Data from Malta confirms this latter conclusion. Inquisitors were
warned to keep the cardinals “fully informed” of all that went on in the
court of faith and to send them a summary of the cases they had dealt with
at the end of each year.”! They were to take no decisions on their own, but
only after they had informed the cardinals of the case and waited for their
directives.”? This subjection was also shown by the stereotyped formula
which inquisitors’ dispatches often commenced with: “In compliance with
the supreme orders of Your Excellencies.””

In most instances the inquisitors’ duty was simply to gather informa-
tion for the holy congregation to decide.”* According to a circular sent to
all inquisitors in 1674 and repeated in 1718, such cases included solicita-
tion of penitents by priests in the confessional and other crimes that mer-
ited the punishment of the galleys.”> Sometimes an “authentic copy” of the
whole trial duly signed by the notary was dispatched to Rome, but usually
only a summary of the proceedings was demanded.”®

The cardinals dispatched detailed instructions (istruzione) for the
inquisitors to follow.”” Guidance was especially needed in cases of simu-
lated sanctity, but especially in regards to witchcraft, a crime most difficult
to prove.”® In 1741 a discalced nun who, like so many others could have
been forced to take the veil by her parents,”” accused herself of having had
sex with the devil, having flown to the meeting riding on “a big ugly animal
which seemed like a cow.” In a letter to Mgr. Ludovico Gualtieri, the car-
dinal inquisitors, basing themselves on the tenth-century episcopal law, the

XVII Secolo (Rome, 2012), 123; Jeffrey R. Watt, “Love Magic and the Inquisition: A Case from
Seventeenth-Century Italy,” Sixteenth Century Journal 41, no. 3 (2010), 675-89, here 682.
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92. AIM, Corr. 17, fol. 51r, Cardinal Marescotti to Mgr. Di Masserano, July 16,
1701.

93. AIM, Corr. 95, fol. 34r, Mgr. Durini to Cardinal Otthoboni, Aug. 20, 1735.

94. AIM, Corr. 19, fol. 253r, Cardinal Marescotti to Mgr. D’Elci, April 16, 1712.

95. AIM, Corr. 21, fols. 132r-334, Cardinal Acciaiuoli to Pro-Inquisitor Napulone,
July 2, 1718.

96. AIM, Corr. 5, fol. 21r, Cardinal Millino to Mgr. Visconti, 12 July 1625.

97. AIM, Corr. 21, fols. 86r—87r, Cardinal Spada to Pro-inquisitor Giovanni Battista
Napoleone, Sept. 19, 1716.

98. For the rigor of inquisitorial investigation of “pretence” cases, see Frans Ciappara,
“Simulated Sanctity in Seventeenth- and Eighteenth-Century Malta,” in Peter Clarke and
Tony Claydon, eds., Saints and Sanctity, [Studies in Church History, 47], (Woodbridge, Suf-
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Canon Episcopi and the Instructio pro formandis Processibus in Causis
Strigum, Sortilegiorum, et Maleficiorum,'® described the incident as a fic-
tion of a corrupt fantasy, the result of some natural infirmity very familiar
to women or the working of a depraved spirit very indulgent to lust.
Instead of being believed, the nun was to be rebuked and urged to recog-
nize her malice and her evil inclination. She was to be put under the care
of a doctor and a spiritual director—though not her own confessor, who
was to be reprimanded for not seeing through the deceit but with great
credulity had encouraged her add one deception to another.!%!

Defence and Torture

The processo informativo having come to an end and if there were suf-
ficient reasons for the case to continue, the prosecutor issued a bill of
indictment which charged the defendant of having been driven by a dia-
bolical spirit and of having dared to fear neither God nor His justice. He
merited to be punished according to the canons of the church; and in case
he did not justify himself, he was to be tortured so that truth would even-
tually come out.1®

The next step, then, was for the accused to prepare his defence. He
could choose his own lawyer but he could decline such defense and put
himself at the court’s mercy. The Jew Abraham told Mgr. Giovanni
Francesco Stoppani (r. 1731-35) in 1732,

I renounce the five days assigned to me to prepare my defense. I don’t
know what defences I should make because all that I have said is the pure
truth. I place myself altogether in the justice and piety of this Tribunal
and ask that my case end as soon as possible. My imprisonment harms
greatly all my family and my interests.!®

100. On this tenth-century episcopal law, see M. Ostorero, “Canon Episcopi,” in DSI,
vol. 1, pp. 256-57. A copy of the Instructio (1704) is found in AIM, Memorie (Mem.) 21,
fols. 99r=102v. For its analysis see Tedeschi, “Appunti sulla Instructio pro formandis processibus
in causis strigum, sortilegium et m:lleﬁciorum," Annuario dellIstituto Storico Italiano per I'Eta
Moderna e Contemporanea 37-38 (1985-86), 219-41. See also Oscar Di Simplicio, ‘Instructio,
in DSI, vol. 2, pp. 845—47; A. Panizza, “I Processi Contro le Streghe nel Trentino,” Archivio
Veneto 7 (1888), 1-100, 199-247, here 84-85. Henry Charles Lea, Materials Toward a History
of Witcheraft, (Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 1939), vol. 2, pp. 950-63.

101. AIM, Corr. 27, fols. 114r-16r, Cardinal Ruffo to Mgr. Gualtieri, 17 March 1742.

102. For an example of such a bill, see AIM, Proc. 121B, fols. 786r—v.

103. “To rinuncio al termine dei giorni cinque assegnatimi da V. P. per fare le mie
difese, perche non so che difese farmi, perché quello cho ho detto & la pura verita. Onde mi
rimetto in tutto e per tutto alla giustizia e pieta di questo S. Trible., che prego sbrigarmi presto
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In this case he was assisted ex officio by the tribunal’s public defender (avvo-
cato dei poveri/re), who provided him with “wise and helpful counsel.”**

Legal assistance was an ancient feature of inquisitorial procedure.!® It
was so essential a right that according to Nicholas Eymerich (1320-99),
the Spanish general inquisitor, its refusal was a reason for the judicial dis-
qualification or recusal of the inquisitor.1% But can we refer to this consult-
ant for the defense, as “the collaborating lawyer” (avvocato collaborista), as
Italo Mereu calls him?” Being one of the inquisitor’s consultori or
advisers,%® was he devoted to the interests of his client or to those of the
judge? Can it be argued that a reasoned defense was useless?

It must be admitted that the role of legal counsel might be severely
restricted. He did not appear before the court to conduct the case or to
cross-examine the adverse witnesses or still to help the accused when he
was being interrogated. Nor did he assist him from the start of the trial but
only when he was arraigned—when he could have made all or most of his
damaging admissions. Moreover, he could not maintain his client’s inno-
cence and make him plead not guilty at all costs.?? If he became convinced
of his guilt, he forced him to tell the truth and could withdraw from
defense on the grounds that he was “convicted by his own admissions.”1
Otherwise, “if he unduly defends a person already suspect of heresy, he
makes himself as it were a patron of that heresy, and lays himself under not

only a light but a strong suspicion.”!!!

But despite these limits on the lawyers’ freedom of action, it cannot be
said, as Carena did, that theirs was a secondary role; they did give valid
advice to the defendants.!'? Like Giovanni Leonardo Grech Cumbo, they

per il grave danno che patisce tutta la mia famiglia per la mia carcerazione, e pericolo grave
dei miei interessi et interessati.” AIM, Proc. 112B, fol. 441v.
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108. That a consultor would not normally act for the defense, see Tedeschi, 7%e Pros-
ecution of Heresy, p. 183, note 107.
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were chosen from among the leading advocates in Malta,'3 some of them

being graduates of foreign universities like La Sapienza at Rome.'* Their
written defenses could run into as many as twenty-one folios'® and were
based on sound legal expertise and on the teachings of standard canonists
whose works were scrupulously cited.!'® Special attention, for instance, was
paid to circumstantial evidence, leading possibly to a reduced penalty.
Should not a defendant be pardoned for acting in anger, especially after
being beaten, whipped or for being so hazy with wine that he could not
stand on his feet?!’” An example of the defense counsel’s compassionate
side is found in a case from 1752. Beatrice Gennaro did admit that she had
blasphemed, but was she not desperate, wanting to hurl herself from the
bastions having heard that her daughter had drowned?!8 The lawyer could
also bring evidence of the defendant’s positive reputation and object that
the witnesses were his client’s mortal enemies!!? or of such bad repute that
they merited to be disqualified.!?

The defendant not only had the services of a lawyer; he could also bring
his own witnesses who answered the articles drawn up by the prosecutor
(interrogatoria fisci).}*! In turn, the accusers answered the questions prepared
by the defense lawyer and had also their former denunciations read out to
them for their approval.'?? This repetitio was so important that it was com-
monly held that “witnesses’ testimony meant nothing” without it.}?3

The counsel was given a transcript of these proceedings so that, together
with his client, he could submit the defense (scrittura di difesa).'* Julius IIT’s
bull In multis depravatis (1554) decreed that the names of the accusers and
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Napoleone, 1 Feb. 1716.
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116. See, for instance, AIM, Proc. 127B, fols. 839r—47r.

117. On acts of anger see AIM, Corr. 10, fol. 97r, Cardinal Barberini to Mgr. Degli
Oddi, 19 Aug. 1656. On beating, see AIM, Proc. 122C, fol. 1022r. On whipping, see Ibid.,
fols. 1661r—v. AIM, Proc. 120A, fols. 114r-33v.
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witnesses were to remain absolutely secret.!?> But evidence from Malta con-
tradicts this assertion. Take the case of Antonio Laiosa, a baptized slave of
the Order accused of blasphemy in 1743. His accusers Gaetano Schembri,
Andrea Crispola, Francesco Pappalardo, and Giuseppe Zerafa are all men-
tioned in the defense report.? Even the depositions read out to the accused
were not supposed to contain the names of the accusers and the circum-
stances of the case, but on 18 August 1756 Carlo de Ruffo, another baptized
slave of the Order, was asked whether he knew Ignazio Vella who had
accused him of blasphemy and eating meat on prohibited days.!?”

It was only after the defense had been heard that the “rigorous exam-
ination” (rigoroso esame), the standard inquisitorial jargon for torture, could
follow.'?8 It could be inflicted on everybody, including priests, but espe-
cially on slaves, though as Christopher Black well observes it was reluc-
tantly used.!” Between 1650 and 1684 it was applied fifty-four times.!*
This is to be compared to the twenty-one instances in the fifty-odd years
(1743-98),'31 which shows that the tribunal had abandoned its severity by
the eighteenth century.

The cardinal inquisitors, on whose authority only could torture be
inflicted and who specified its duration, say a quarter of an hour, knew that
it was an insufficient way to elicit the truth. Some defendants like Giuseppa
Bella and Grazia Zingara would confess anything not to be tortured.’*> On
the contrary, a few fortunates could withstand the pain and even laugh at

it!33 because of the strong constitution of their bodies.’** On account of

125. D’Errico, L'Inquisizione di Bologna, p. 60.

126. AIM, Proc. 120B, fols. 539r=70v.

127. Ibid., fol. 547v.; AIM, Proc. 125A, fol. 349r.

128. Oscar Di Simplicio, Autunno della stregoneria. Malefici e magia nell'Italia moderna
(Bologna, 2005), p. 139.

129. Ciappara, Society and the Inquisition, Table 8.1, p. 439; Black, The Italian Inquisi-
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these disabilities the cardinal inquisitors set up safeguards against possible
injustice.® It could be applied only on those prisoners against whom there
was already cogent incriminating evidence but no full-proof charges.!*¢ It
would have been unbecoming and a most wicked thing against God’s and
man’s laws if there existed no such legitimate evidence, commented the
manual Sacro Arsenale!3” Moreover, torture signified the tribunal’s obses-
sion with making the defendant confess. And as confession, the bedrock of
proof, was to be given freely, statements revealed during the “rigorous
examination” had to be ratified outside the torture chamber the next day.!%

Torture replaced the judgment of God as the arbiter of crime and so,
as those who withstood the pain of fire or boiled water were declared inno-
cent, even those who “stood in the negative” were “purged of the strong
evidence that there is against them”® and were dismissed. Inquisitors,
therefore, preferred not to put such defendants like Domenico Fregosi to
torture. He was highly suspect of having uttered impieties in conversation.
However, it was believed that this “dissolute rascal,” as Mgr. Carlo
Francesco Durini (r. 1735-39) described him in 1738, would resist the
pain. He proved to be right and Fregosi was set free.!*?

Sentence

Then, “having seen and maturely considered the case with the counsel
and advice of the theologians and canonists of our congregation,” the sen-
tence was laid down. The inquisitors also referred to their manuals and
their archives, which constituted a form of perpetual and unfailing
memory.'*! By the seventeenth century the bishops’ participation in the
court of faith had become a mere formality, despite the directives of
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Gregory, eds., Discipline and Diversity [Studies in Church History, 43], (Woodbridge, Suf-
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Clement’s constitution Multorum Querela of 1311. The ordinaries discon-
tinued appending their signatures to the inquisitors’ sentences, their inter-
ventions being only consultative.!*? This was unlike the practice followed
in various tribunals in Italy where, Del Col assures us, it took a long time
for the inquisitors to replace the bishops as chief judges of faith.1*3

This does not mean that the inquisitors could issue sentences on their
own. It has already been noted that they were not to give the impression
that they were the head of an independent tribunal. As one writer has
remarked in the case of Milan,'** inquisitors in Malta decided only cases of
minor importance. And even these sentences were dispatched to Rome to

be inspected by the congregation’s prosecutor “with his usual diligence.”#

In fact, like other inquisitors on the periphery, such as Giacomo Tinti
of Modena (r. 1626—47), they risked being reprimanded by their superiors
in Rome.™ As an example of their “irregular procedures against the prac-
tice of the Holy Tribunal”™*’ we have the case of Mgr. Raniero D’Elci
(1711-15) who on March 14, 1712 condemned the Savoyard Antonio Ric-
cardi to imprisonment for blasphemy, but then released him after barely
two months. In the opinion of the cardinal inquisitors, this was a light sen-

142. On ordinaries discontinuing signing inquistors’ sentences, see for instance, AIM,
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tence and demanded that this captain of a corsair ship be rounded up again
and given another five years.!*8 But if the inquisitors could be charged of
being lenient with penitents, they could also be condemned for being too
harsh with them. In 1722 Stefano Tancredi was accused of various types of
witchcraft.!* As these accusations did not concern the abuse of sacraments
or sacramentals, he was found only lightly (de /evi) suspect of heresy. But
still he was tortured, which the cardinal inquisitors condemned severely.!*°

It is dishonest to label the verdicts passed by the Holy Office as being
vindictive and unfair. The decision not to proceed with the trial, for
instance, was fairly common. The crime of heresy was to be punished only
if there were two essential elements present, heretical material and volun-
tary adhesion to the heresy.”! For instance, “May God send the devils to
take my soul” is an atrocious but not a heretical proposition.!>? Besides, was
the defendant conscious of his heretical belief? Take the case of Mad-
dalena, the wife of Domenico Zammit of St Mary’s, Mqabba. In 1708,
drawing on popular tradition, she took her sick child to an abandoned
chapel and, laying it down on the altar, said, “Give me my child because
this is not mine.” Like other simple women she did not realise the enor-
mity of her crime until the inquisitor made her conscious that she was
imploring the malign spirit. If she were addressing God why did she make
it a point not to nominate the name of Jesus and why did the chapel con-
tain no images of saints? Why did she not sign herself with the sign of the
cross?> Why did not the child wear any sacred object? The inquisitor, the
representative of a higher culture, asked her whether she believed “that the
most holy name of Jesus should be invoked and adored by all Christians.”
She answered that she did and that she was an ignorant woman who had
only desired that her child be cured, for which she was sternly rebuked.!>3

As Table 1 shows, 16 of the 150 persons arrested between 1744 and 1798
(10.7 per cent) were acquitted:>* “owing to lack of proof it is a point of justice

148. AIM, Corr. 20, fol. 79r, Cardinal Spada to Mgr. D’Elci, 30 Sept. 1713. For the
whole proceedings see AIM, Proc. 103B, fols. 601r—710v.

149. AIM, Proc. 108B, fols. 558r—63v.

150. AIM, Corr. 22, fols. 199r-201r, Cardinal del Giudice to Mgr. Ruffo, 24 Oct.
1722.

151. Beretta, “Le proces de Galilée,” 449.

152. AIM, Proc. 136A, fol. 320r.

153. Jean-Claude Schmitt, Medioevo “Superstizioso” (Rome-Bari, 1997), pp. 132-36;
Keith Thomas, Religion and the Decline of Magic. Studies in Popular Beliefs in Sixteenth and
Seventeenth Century England (London 1971), pp. 612-13; AIM, Proc. 100B, fols. 506r—v.

154. Calculated from dated in Ciappara, Society and the Inquisition, Table 9.2, p. 468.
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TABLE 1. Sentences passed on prisoners, 174498
(Ref. AIM. Proc. 120A—Proc. 162)

Imprisoned 41
Acquitted 16
Conditional Release 18
Woarned 18
Whipped 13
Shamed 18
Sent on Galleys 3
Others 16
Unknown 7

Others: Hard labor—1; exiled—1; jailers removed from office—2; priest to discon-
tinue pastoral work—1; bigamists to join spouse—3; abjured—38.

to set promptly free this unfortunate (Emanuele Oliveira of Lisbon) after the
long imprisonment he has suffered.”’>® In eighteen other cases the detained
were simply admonished, the same number as those who were released on con-
dition they would be summoned again if ever fresh evidence rose against them.
Another eight were let go simply because they agreed to abjure their heresy.

The tribunal’s judicial yardstick was both just and sensible. Minors, for
instance, were not to get the same punishment as elders.!® Inquisitors
were considerate to the point that parents were to be spared from being
flogged publicly lest their daughters failed to find a husband.®” Another
maxim was that the punishment should fit the offender. Prostitutes, there-
fore, were not made to confess and communicate, but only to fast, pray,
and do other penances “proportional to the quality of the unhappy state in
which these wretches find themselves.”'*8

Following the setting up of the tribunal in 1561 sentences were public
spectacles, the well-known auto da fé. The notary ascended the pulpit of
the cathedral or of some other church, for instance the Dominican church

155. ... ¢ debito di giustizia di liberare con sollecitudine un infelice dopo una lunga
carcerazione che ha sofferta che dal Processo compilato con accuratezza siasi rilevata alcuna
reita contro di lui.” AIM, Corr. 33, fol. 171r, Cardinal Antonelli to Mgr. Lante, 31 Jan. 1775.

156. AIM, Proc. 70B, fols. 393r-95v.

157. AIM, Misc. 2, p. 83.

158. “Non solo ha ben bene la S. Congze. che V. S. commuti 'obligo di confessarsi, e di
communicarsi quattro volte 'anno imposto alle meretrici penitentiati da cotesta Ingne., ma che
per l'avvenire in casi somiglianti non se I'imponga, ma se le diano altre penitenze salutari, come
di digiuni, ed orazioni, e di altri si fatti proporzionati alla qualita dello stato infelice in che si tro-
vano coteste misere.” AIM, Corr. 6, fol. 175, Cardinal Barberini to Mgr. Chigi, Oct. 16, 1635.
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of the Annunciation at Birgu, and read out the verdict in the presence of a
large congregation.!® These ceremonies were catechetical sessions on a
grand scale, which, with their exemplary punishments, reaffirmed and
endorsed the basic values of the Christian community.1®® However, in
another attenuating development in the inquisitorial procedure, the chan-
cellor from 1725 onward started reading the sentences in the camera secreta
in the presence only of the penitent and two witnesses.!®! Nor did formal
heretics, at least from 1714, wear the penitential habit adorned with the
sign of the cross over their other clothes.!6?

Next, “to remove from the mind of Christ’s faithful this grave suspi-
cion against me” the accused knelt in front of the inquisitor and touching
the bible, abjured, cursed, and detested “this heresy and error which con-
tradicts the Holy, Catholic, Apostolic, and Roman Church.” It was only
then that the penitent, having sworn never again to fall into similar errors,
was absolved from the excommunication which he had incurred.!®3

However, “so that your grave errors do not remain totally unpunished
and you will be more cautious in the future,” a temporal penance was
imposed on the “heretic.” The inquisitors proceeded with much circum-
spection because everybody was entitled to his good name and even “the
lowliest people wished to preserve that honor and reputation which
belonged to their station.”®* The last eight inquisitors meted out thirty-
seven sentences of imprisonment, which in four cases entailed fasting on
bread and water once or twice a week on Wednesdays and Saturdays. Only
three “heretics” were sent to row on the galleys; one was condemned to
hard labor while another was exiled. It must be noted that capital sen-
tences, like fines, were only handed down sparingly. On its establishment
the inquisition had wanted to impress the inhabitants with its severity and
the impenitents were sent to their death and their property confiscated.®®

159. AIM, Proc. 28A, fol. 66r; AIM, Proc. 44B, fol. 918v.

160. For the meaning of this religious ritual see M. Flynn, “Mimesis of the Last Judge-
ment: the Spanish Auto da f&, Sixteenth Century Journal 22, no. 2 (1991), 281-97.

161. AIM, Corr. 23, fol. 47r, Cardinal Paulucci to Mgr. Ruffo, 15 Dec. 1725; AIM,
Proc. 122A, fol. 384r.

162. AIM, Proc. 103C, fol. 914v.

163. AIM, Proc. 134A, fols. 201r—v. For abjuration see E. Brambilla, “Abiura,” in DSI,
vol. 1, pp. 5-6.

164. AIM, Corr. 22, fol. 200v, Cardinal Giudice to Mgr. Ruffo, Oct. 24, 1722.

165. V. Lavenia, “I Beni dell’Eretico, i conti dell'Inquisitore. Confische, Stati Italiani,
Economia del Sacro Tribunale,” in L'Inquisizione e gli Storici: Un Cantiere Aperto (Rome,
2000), pp. 47-94.
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Gesualdo, an obstinate Protestant, was burnt in 1554 and two other
Protestant sympathisers Matteo and Lorenzo Falsone were spared this
cruel fate only because they succeeded in escaping and were instead burnt
in effigy in 1575.1% Not so the two apostates Costantino and Giovanni da
Paris,'%” who were both burnt alive in 1639. These cases involved relapsed
heretics but others could still be executed for some most execrable crime.
Take the case of Paolo Somma from Messina, who was consigned to the
secular arm in 1643. He had been the chief spy for enslaving the inhabi-
tants of the town of Nicotera (Calabria, Italy) by Muslim corsairs but he
was also reported to have said that his only wish was to do so much harm

to the Christians that God would say, “Enough! Enough!”168

Temporal punishment served as an example to all the Christian com-
munity, to whom the heretic’s crime had served as a scandal. A way to reaf-
firm society’s moral order and avenge the “collecive conscience” was
shamimg. Bareheaded and on his knees the convicted heretic was exposed
in front of the main door of the church. A note on his chest proclaimed his
crime, while in cases of blasphemy a gag (mordacchia) was put in his mouth.
Another penalty which inculcated shame was flogging. The condemned,
mostly slaves, were first certified by the prison doctor as able to withstand
the pain, and those who like Imhammet suffered from hernias had their
loins tied before being flogged. They sat with their hands tied on an ass or
a donkey, wearing a miter on their head and the ignominious placard on
their breast and heralded by a trumpeter, they were beaten at every corner
of the cities of Senglea, Cospicua, Vittoriosa and Valletta.'®’

Finally, “so that from God Our Lord you obtain mercy and pardon
more easily for your sins and errors,” the condemned received a spiritual
penance. They were to confess four times a year and with the advice of
their confessor receive holy communion at Easter, Pentecost, the Assump-
tion, and Christmas and were required to recite the rosary every Saturday
for the next two or four years. They could also be made to say the seven

166. On Gesualdo’s burning, see AIM, Mem. 12, fol. 19r; Salelles, De Materiis Tribu-
nalium S. Inquisitionis, p. 48; Anne Brogini, Malte, Frontiére de Chrétienté, 1530-1670 (Rome
2006), p. 405; regarding the Falsones, see AIM, Mem. 12, fol. 44r. For the confiscation of
their property, see ACDF, St St II 1-e bis.

167. AIM, Proc. 54 Bis, fol. 83r. AIM, Corr. 7, fol. 106r, Cardinal Barberini to Mgr.
Chigi, March 26, 1639; AIM, Proc. 54 Bis, fol. 121r. AIM, Corr. 7, fols. 80r—v, Cardinal
Barberini to Mgr. Chigi, 27 Nov. 1638.

168. AIM, Corr. 8, fol. 57r, Cardinal Barberini to Mgr. Gori Pannellini, May 23,
1643. For the trial see AIM, Proc. 56B, fols. 1119r—47v.

169. Ciappara, Society and the Inquisition, pp. 470-73.
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penitential psalms on their knees every Friday with their litanies, and there
is one case of a penitent who was to recite the Creed three times every
Sunday kneeling before some holy picture.!” A nun who imagined all sorts
of lust was to mortify her flesh and allay its assaults by penitences.!”!

Verdicts were issued with the proviso “reserving to the sacred supreme
congregation of the Holy Office the right to increase, moderate, change,
and pardon in part or in whole the punishments and salutary penance.”!’?
The condemned, for example, could ask to spend their prison sentence in
a monastery,'”> a convent,'’* or the Jesuit college.'”” Much more impor-
tantly, they had the right to appeal to Rome for redress against an unjust
sentence.l’® As both G. Bertora and Nicholas Davidson!'”” among others
have rightly remarked, the cardinals were ready to listen to abuses and see
that justice be done.1”® Although outside our period we can take the case
of Mgr. Gori Pannellini (r. 1639-46).17° In 1638 he was involved in a suit
concerning the supposed ritual boiling of a five-month-old child in a caul-
dron of water, wine, oil, and honey. Some forty men and women were
alleged to have attended, the men dancing round the container while
Mansur the slave read from a book. When the devil appeared, they all knelt
down to adore him,; they offered their soul to him and foreswore their faith.
This scene of the Devil’s Sabbath was extracted from the defendants by
applying the power of suggestion systematically and subjecting them to
psychological stress. They had their bodies searched for the devil’s mark
and were offered false promises of impunity. They were ordered to plead
guilty since if they did not confess they would be flayed and suffocated,
have their eyes pulled out, and would be beaten and thrown into the well

170. AIM, Proc. 122B, fols. 440r—585v; AIM, Proc. 131B, fol. 593v.

171. AIM, Corr. 27, fols. 114r-16v, Cardinal Ruffo to Mgr. Gualtieri, March 17, 1742.

172. See, for instance, AIM, Proc. 105B, fol. 376v.

173. Ciappara, Society and the Inquisition, pp. 477-78.

174. AIM, Corr. 91, fol. 170v, Cardinal Ruffo to Mgr. Passionei, July 2, 1746.

175. AIM, Corr. 94, fol. 168v, Mgr. D’Elci to Cardinal Marescotti, Dec. 9, 1711.

176. D’Errico, “Licet ab initio,” in DSI, vol. 2, p. 906.

177. G. Bertora, “Il Tribunale Inquisitorio di Genova e I'Inquisizione Romana
nel’500,” La Civilta Cattolica 11, Anno 104 (1953), 173-85, here 181, 183. Nicholas S.
Davidson, “Rome and the Venetian Inquisition in the Sixteenth Century,” Journal of Ecclesi-
astical History 39, no. 1 (1988), 16-36, here 26.

178. Appeals could also be launched with the Penitentieria. See F. Tamburini, “Suppli-
che per casi di Stregoneria Diabolica nei Registri della Penitentieria e Conflitti Inquisitoriali
(Sec. XV-XVI),” Critica Storica, Anno 23, no. 4 (1986), 605-59.

179. For this over-jealous inquisitor see Alexander Bonnici, “A Bad Reputation for the
Maltese Inquisition under Mgr. John Baptist Gori Pannellini,” Melita Historica 6, no. 1
(1972), 50-59.
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to be thrashed by the spirits or torn to pieces—the torture chamber being
purposely left open to terrify them with its instruments.!®® But on their
appeal to Rome the inquisitor was replaced by Mgr. Antonio Pignatelli (r.
1646-49), the future Pope Innocent XII (r. 1691-1700).18! The case was
reopened and justice was vindicated. The assessor and the defence counsel
were arrested and on July 2, 1648 the accused were publicly declared inno-

cent, having been imprisoned on fantastic and flimsy illusions.8?

Conclusion

In conclusion, the Maltese tribunal was one of the numerous tribunals
of the Roman Inquisition, but it was original in some respects. None of the
inquisitors belonged to the Franciscan or Dominican orders. The first two
inquisitors were the local bishops, but unlike in Italy, the ordinaries were
soon followed by members of the secular clergy, starting with Mgr. Duzina
in 1574. The inquisitors in Malta were also representatives of other Roman
congregations, as well as nuncios or apostolic delegates, their stay in Malta
serving as training for a later diplomatic career.

By the eighteenth century the Roman Inquisition was no longer pre-
occupied with Protestants. The inquisitors were now concerned with the
“Indians” of Europe who did not lead a true Christian life and instead blas-
phemed, believed in witchcraft, and did not carry out their Easter duties.
But if this was true of all tribunals, the santufficio in Malta, unlike else-
where, was still thriving at its demise in 1798.

The secrecy of the tribunal is a myth, since the defendant could rec-
ognize his accusers in various ways. Their names cropped up during inter-
rogation but, what is most revealing, he could confront them face to face.
Furthermore, contrary to general belief, it has been shown that in Malta
the dossier, which the defendant was given to prepare his defense with,
contained their names. In this the accused was assisted by a defense lawyer,
who in Malta was also one of the consultors.

This study addresses themes which are generally ignored or else given
little importance by the historians of the Inquisition. The accused testified

180. AIM, Proc. 153, fols. 392v, 393v.

181. See the memorial attached to the letter dated 27 Sept. 1648 by Cardinal Barberini
to Mgr. Pignatelli: AIM, Corr. 8, fols. 270r=71v; on the replacement of the inquisitor by
Mgr. Pignatelli, see Frans Ciappara, “Innocent XII,” in DSI, vol. 2, p. 800.

182. AIM, Corr. 8, fol. 250r, Cardinal Barberini to Mgr. Pignatelli, Dec. 22, 1647.
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under oath, with the possibility that he forswore himself. The trial records
give us a glimpse of the way a defendant was identified when he refused to
admit his guilt. He stood either alone or, more commonly, between two
other persons in the middle of the staircase while his accusers looked
through a window. The court trials also reveal the fact that the inquisitors
were reluctant to submit to torture an accused who could withstand the
pain because then he would have to be set free. The Maltese Inquisition
makes it clear that accusers were interrogated a second time to confirm
their depositions and to answer the questions prepared by the defense
council. Lastly, the tribunal had abandoned its severity by the eighteenth
century and the inquisitors were considerate to the extent that they would
banish a woman to the island of Gozo rather than flog her publicly lest her
husband abandoned her.'®3

183. AIM, Proc. 28A, fols. 65r-69v.



Law and Catholicism in Colonial Maryland
ScorTt D. GERBER*

Montesquieu famously concluded in The Spirit of the Laws zhat each
Jform of government has an animating principle—a set of “human pas-
sions that set it in motion™—and that each form can be corrupted if its
animating principle is undermined. Maryland is a compelling case
study of Montesquiew’s theory: founded in 1632 by Lord Baltimore as
a haven for Catholics, a mere two decades later that animating prin-
ciple was dead. This article explores why. More specifically, the article
examines the birth, death, and resurrection of Maryland’s animating
principle by identifying with as much precision as possible the impact
of the law itself on regime change in colonial Maryland.

Keywords: colonial Maryland, Lord Baltimore, religious tolera-
tion, law

“The doctrine of toleration in matters of religion, reasonable though it certainly
is, has not been long known or acknowledged. . . . [B]ut while immortal hon-
ours are bestowed on the name and character of Locke; why should an ungra-
cious silence be observed, with regard to the name and character of Calvert?”

—U.S. Supreme Court Justice James Wilson, Lectures on Law (1790-91)

ontesquieu famously concluded in The Spirit of the Laws that each
form of government has an animating principle—a set of “human
passions that set it in motion”—and that each form can be corrupted if its
animating principle is undermined.! The animating principle of a particu-
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Mark Hall, Mike Meyerson, Don Wedding, Gordon Wood, and Kay Zekany for reading a draft;
and The Catholic Historical Review's editor and anonymous evaluators for suggestions. Dr. Gerber
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1. Charles de Montesquieu, The Spirit of the Laws [1748], ed. & trans. Anne M.
Cohler, Basia Carolyn Miller, and Harold Samuel Stone (New York, 1989), pp. 21, 30. It is

conceivable that a regime might have more than one animating principle.
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lar English American colony is usually easy to discern. To mention two
well-known examples, religious toleration was Rhode Island’s animating
principle, while Connecticut’s was the desire to create an ideal Puritan
polity.2 Of course the “legend” is that Maryland was founded as a Catholic
colony,® although scholars have spent a lot of time disagreeing about the
matter over the years.

In 1883, for instance, attorney and former Confederate general
Bradley T. Johnson delivered a paper to the Maryland Historical Society
that chronicled what he claimed were the three prevailing theories about
Maryland’s animating principle.* The first was financial: “Lord Baltimore,
having acquired a principality, in order to develop it by speedy settlement,
and promote his fortune, proclaimed and promised the largest liberality in
grants of land and liberty of conscience to all who would emigrate to and
colonize his new possessions.” The second traced to the benevolence of
Maryland’s Protestant majority: “The Puritan theory that the Protestants
having the numerical preponderance in the Colony in 1649, proclaimed
freedom of conscience as the fundamental law of the new commonwealth,
being moved thereto by a profound conviction of its justice and the exam-
ple of the Puritans in England.”® The third was the Catholic account: “The
Roman Catholic theory that Lord Baltimore, being a devout Catholic,
actuated by a desire to provide a refuge for his oppressed co-religionists,
founded a Catholic Colony, composed in the main of Roman Catholics,
and by his own authority, with their co-operation and sympathy, and
through the promptings and teachings of his Church, adopted and pro-
claimed the Law of Religious Liberty to all Christians of every creed and
sect whatsoever, as the fundamental institution of the new State.””

2. Scott D. Gerber, “Law and the Lively Experiment in Colonial Rhode Island,” British
Journal of American Legal Studies 2 (2013), 453-76; Scott D. Gerber, “Law and Religion in
Colonial Connecticut,” American Journal of Legal History 55 (2015), 149-93.

3. R.]. Lahey, “The Role of Religion in Lord Baltimore’s Colonial Enterprise,” Mary-
land Historical Magazine 77 (1977), 492-511, here 493. Lahey was referring to the “legend”
surrounding George Calvert’s founding of Avalon, but the term applies with equal force to
his plan for Maryland.

4. See Bradley T. Johnson, “The Foundation of Maryland and the Origin of the Act
Concerning Religion of April 21, 1649” (1883), p. 9, https://archive.org/details/foundation
ofmary0Ojohn.

5. Ibid, p. 5.

6. Ibid., p. 6.

7. Ibid., pp. 7-8. Johnson rejected all three of the prevailing theories and proposed a
fourth theory of his own: that Lord Baltimore sought to establish a colony in America where
the rights of Englishmen, broadly construed, would be secured and guaranteed to “all its
people forever.” Ibid., p. 9.
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Jumping ahead more than a century to the present day, historian
Nicholas John Pellegrino summarizes the current state of the literature in
his dissertation about Catholics and the pursuit of religious freedom in
early America, which is worth quoting at length:

Historians have assessed the Maryland experiment in religious freedom
by weighing the competing religious, political, and economic ideals that
motivated Calvert to found his colony in 1632. While some analysts have
lauded his commitment to religious liberty by arguing that, along with
his son who carried out his ambitions, Calvert “deserves to be ranked
among the most wise and benevolent lawgivers of all ages,” others sought
to correct this “wholly erroneous view of the Religious Toleration stated
to have been declared by Lord Baltimore.” These competing views split
along denominational lines, with Protestant historians like C. E. Smith
ascribing the most deceitful and self-interested motives to Calvert and
his heirs, and Catholic historians such as Bishop William T. Russell cel-
ebrating Calvert’s magnanimous plan. Most recently, however, scholars
of various persuasions have found a more nuanced way to explain the
motivations behind the Maryland experiment. Thomas McAvoy, for
instance, includes both interpretations in his studies of early Maryland
without assessing the relative importance of one over the other. Perhaps
the leading historian on the subject, John Krugler concludes that
although “Religious freedom was the modus operandi of the ‘Maryland
designe,” it was “not the purpose of the founding of Maryland. It was a
means to an end, which was the creation of a prosperous society.”®

Scholars can never know for certain which of the various interpreta-
tions of Maryland’s animating principle is correct. As historian Maura Jane
Farrelly puts it in her book about the making of American Catholic iden-
tity: “we have no documentation on what either of the first or second Lord
Baltimore’s motives were, other than the fact that they both hoped to make
money. To what degree, then, the Act Concerning Religion was a genuine
move to create a refuge for Catholics, and to what degree it was a market-
ing ploy—designed to attract and protect an English population that was
disproportionately wealthy—cannot be fully determined.”

8. Nicholas John Pellegrino, “Reviving a Spirit of Controversy: Roman Catholics and
the Pursuit of Religious Freedom in Early America” (unpublished Ph.D. diss., University of
Nevada, Las Vegas, 2015), pp. 59-60. See also John D. Krugler, “An ‘Ungracious Silence”:
Historians and the Calvert Vision,” Maryland Historical Magazine 110 (2015), 143-57 (a his-
toriography about the founding of Maryland).

9. Maura Jane Farrelly, Papist Patriots: The Making of an American Catholic Identity
(New York, 2012), p. 50. But see Matthew Page Andrews, “Separation of Church and State
in Maryland,” The Catholic Historical Review 21 (1935), 164-76, here 174 (“After extensive



468 LAw AND CATHOLICISM IN COLONIAL MARYLAND

What this article now hopes to demonstrate is that, by focusing on the
development of the /zw in colonial Maryland—most notably, the charter,
instructions, statutes, and judicial decisions!®>—what becomes apparent is
the birth, death, and resurrection of a colony designed to provide refuge for
Catholics and that tried to do so by promising toleration for all Christian
denominations. Although the article discusses the political, social, and eco-
nomic context of the various Maryland laws about religion, it emphasizes
the text and the principles derived from the text. The objective is to iden-
tify with as much precision as possible the impact of the law itself on
regime change in colonial Maryland.!* Note also that there are two major
styles of writing about history: articles and books that focus in great detail
on a narrow period of time and those that chronicle in conceptual terms a
broad expanse of time. This article is written in the second style.

Birth of an Animating Principle
George Calvert (see Figure 1) served as a member of the English Par-

liament and later as secretary of state under King James 1. He supported the
failed marriage alliance between Prince Charles and the Spanish House of

study, I should say that idealism was uppermost in the purpose of the Calverts; but, being also
practical, they held in view the hope of a profitable enterprise.”); Thomas J. Curry, The First
Freedoms: Church and State in America to the Passage of the First Amendment (New York, 1986),
p- 33 (“Unless both father and son shared a desire to make their colonial enterprises havens
in some sense for their fellow English Catholics, their policy of encouraging Catholics to emi-
grate to those colonies, providing them with priests, and securing toleration for them—all
actions that jeopardized the commercial success of the ventures—is inexplicable.”).

10. Scholars long have debated the meaning of “law” in colonial America. See, for
example, Mary Sarah Bilder, “English Settlement and Local Governance,” in The Cambridge
History of Law in America, Volume 1: Early America (1580-1815), ed. Michael Grossberg &
Christopher Tomlins (New York, 2008), pp. 63-103, here pp. 90-103.

11. Legal historian William E. Nelson emphasizes economics as the basis for regime
change in colonial Maryland. See, for example, William E. Nelson, “The Law of Colonial
Maryland: Virginia Without Its Grandeur,” American Journal of Legal History 54 (2014), 168—
99. The general scholarship about colonial Maryland is voluminous. A few examples of
books that focus on matters other than law include Lois Green Carr, Russell R. Menard, &
Lorena S. Walsh, Robert Cole’s War: Agriculture and Society in Early Maryland (Chapel Hill,
1991) (a case study of local agriculture in colonial Maryland); Jean B. Russo & J. Elliott
Russo, Planting an Empire: The Early Chesapeake in British North America (Baltimore, 2012)
(a comparative analysis of the political economies of colonial Maryland and colonial Virginia);
and Antoinette Sutto, Loyal Protestants and Dangerous Papists: Maryland and the Politics of
Religion in the English Atlantic, 1630-1690 (Charlottesville, 2015) (an exploration of the
impact of trans-Atlantic politics on colonial Maryland). The Maryland Historical Magazine is
a treasure trove of articles about Maryland, including many on the colonial period. Relevant
additional works are cited throughout this article.
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FIGURE 1. Engraving of George Calvert, 1st Baron Baltimore by unknown artist,
ca. 1620. Public domain work retrieved via Wikimedia Commons. (https://com-
mons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:George_Calvert,_1st_Baron_Baltimore.jpg)

Habsburg, which greatly diminished Calvert’s political power. He resigned
all of his government offices in 1625 except for his position on the privy
council and declared publicly that he was Catholic. Later that year the king
anointed Calvert as Baron Baltimore of Baltimore in the county of Long-
ford in the Irish peerage as a reward for Calvert’s years of loyal service.!?

Calvert had a longstanding interest in colonization of the Americas,
which was initially manifested in 1609 through financial investments in the
second Virginia Company and the East India Company. He joined the New
England Company in 1622, and in 1623 he obtained a royal charter for a
colony he called Avalon in what is now Newfoundland, Canada.'> When the
newly installed Lord Baltimore traveled to Avalon in 1627, he brought with

12. See, for example, John D. Krugler, English and Catholic: The Lords Baltimore in the
Seventeenth Century (Baltimore, 2004), chap. 3.

13. See, for example, Gillian T. Cell, “Introduction” to Newfoundland Discovered: Eng-
lish Attempts at Colonisation, 1610-1630, ed. Gillian T. Cell (London, 1982), pp. 1-59, here
pp. 48-49. Calvert had purchased a smaller plot in Newfoundland in 1620.
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him two Catholic priests, one of whom remained in the colony through
1629. This marked the first continuous Catholic ministry in English North
America. Baltimore secured the right of Catholics to practice their religion
unimpeded in the new colony, and he implicitly recognized the principle of
religious tolerance for all Christians in Avalon’s charter by omitting any
requirement that settlers take the Oath of Supremacy acknowledging the
monarch as the head of the Church of England.’* Avalon was thus the initial
North American jurisdiction to practice at least some degree of religious tol-
eration.”® However, the colony failed because Baltimore found the weather
too severe and it had become a financial drain on him.!®

Lord Baltimore was bound and determined not to give up on his
dream of colonization. King Charles I, who had succeeded his father on
the throne, granted Baltimore a location south of Jamestown. Baltimore
asked the king for a different spot in light of opposition from other
investors interested in settling the new land of Carolina into a sugar plan-
tation,'” and he eventually accepted redrawn boundaries to the north of the
Potomac River, on either side of the Chesapeake Bay.!® Tragically, he died
five weeks before the charter passed the seals, but his eldest son Cecilius,
who became the second Lord Baltimore, carried on his father’s design (see
Figure 2).Y% Cecilius organized the expedition of colonists to the New
World, although he did not travel with them. Cecilius’s brother Leonard

served as the first governor of Maryland. The colony was named after

14. See, for example, Peter E. Pope, Fish into Wine: The Newfoundland Plantation in the
Seventeenth Century (Chapel Hill, 2004), p. 289. Religious studies scholar R. J. Lahey empha-
sized the significance of this omission: “The original grant to the Newfoundland Company in
1610, for example, provided that ‘we would be loth that any person should be permitted to pass
that we suspected to affect the superstitions of the Church of Rome,’” and it specifically
required the taking of the Oath of Supremacy, a measure unambiguously obnoxious to Roman
Catholics. By that standard, the absence of restriction on Roman Catholic colonization in the
Avalon charter is indeed remarkable.” R. J. Lahey, “The Role of Religion in Lord Baltimore’s
Colonial Enterprise,” Maryland Historical Magazine 77 (1977), 492-511, here 496. The Char-
ter of Avalon of 1623 is reprinted in Cell, Newfoundland Discovered, pp. 258-69.

15. See, for example, “Sir George Calvert and the Colony of Newfoundland,”
http://www.heritage.nf.ca/articles/exploration/calvert-avalon-colony.php.

16. See, for example, Luca Codignola, The Coldest Harbour of the Land: Simon Stock and
Lord Baltimore’s Colony in Newfoundland, 1621-1649, trans. Anita Weston (Kingston, 1988),
part One.

17. See, for example, John Fiske, Old Virginia and Her Neighbours (Boston, 1897), p. 265.

18. See, for example, William Hand Browne, George and Cecil Calvert: Barons Baltimore
of Baltimore (New York, 1890), p. 17.

19. See, for example, Aubrey C. Land, Colonial Maryland: A History (Millwood, 1981),

p- 6.
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FIGURE 2. Painting of Cecil Calvert, 2nd Baron Baltimore, by Florence MacKubin
(1861-1918), ca. 1910. Public domain work retrieved from the Maryland State
Archives. (http://msa.maryland.gov/msa/speccol/sc1500/s¢1545/001100/001126/
html/cecilcalvert.html)

Queen Henrietta Maria, wife of Charles 1. The initial wave of colonists
was thought to have consisted of seventeen Catholic gentlemen, two Jesuit
priests, and approximately 123 Protestant indentured servants who set sail

on the Ark and the Dove on November 22, 1633.2° Catholics remained a
minority of Maryland’s population throughout the colonial period.

The charter of Maryland—the organic law of the colony—announced
that “Ceecilius Calvert . . . being animated with a laudable, and pious Zeal
for extending the Christian Religion . . . that all that Region . . . may by
our Royal Highness be given, granted and confirmed unto him, and his
Heirs.””! The charter then enumerated Lord Baltimore’s powers and rights

20. See, for example, Matthew Page Andrews, The Founding of Maryland (Baltimore,
1933), p. 22.

21. The Charter of Maryland of 1632 is reprinted at, among other places,
http://msa.maryland.gov/msa/educ/exhibits/founding/pdf/charter.pdf.
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in religious matters as follows: “We do grant . . . the patronages and
advowisms of all churches . . . within the said region . . . together with the
license and faculty of erecting . . . churches . . . and places of worship. . .;

with all and singular such, and as ample rights, jurisdictions, privileges . . .
liberties . . . and royal rights, and by temporal franchise whatsoever, as well
as by sea as by land . . . to be had, exercised . . . as any ishop of Durbam . . .
ever heretofore hath had, held, used or enjoyed, or of right could, or ought
to have, hold, use or enjoy.”?

The Bishop of Durham clause endowed Lord Baltimore with regal
powers in Maryland, including, at least technically, with the authority to
exclude everyone but Catholics, “if Baltimore so willed.””® Although the
charter specified that Maryland’s laws had to conform “so far as conve-
niently may be” to the laws of England and that inhabitants of the colony
were entitled to the privileges of native born Englishmen, any ambiguity
was to be interpreted in Baltimore’s favor.?

The charter did not specifically announce the intention to plant a colony
protective of Catholics. That should not be surprising. At the time, the laws
of England not only forbade the open practice of Catholicism, but King
Charles—although married to a Catholic and suspected of being Catholic
himself—was demanding stricter enforcement of those laws.” Conse-
quently, if George Calvert desired to create a haven for Catholics in Mary-

22. Ibid.

23. Wm. King, “Lord Baltimore and his Freedom in Granting Religious Toleration,”
Records of the American Catholic Historical Society of Philadelphia, vol. 32 (1921), pp. 295-313,
here p. 298.

24. Charter of Maryland. The favorable terms of the charter have been said to be a
manifestation of George Calvert’s “legal genius.” Lois Green Carr & Edward C. Papenfuse,
“The Charter of Maryland,” Archives of Maryland Online, vol. 550 (2003), pp. xii-xxv, here p.
xii. Carr was widely regarded as the leading historian of Maryland’s seventeenth-century
period. Papenfuse was the longtime state archivist of Maryland who was largely responsible
for making the Maryland archives accessible via the internet. Citations in this article to the
Maryland archives are to the internet version, Archives of Maryland Online (hereafter
“AOMOL”). See http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/html/index.html. AOMOL, as it is com-
monly known, currently includes 865 volumes and also publishes occasional essays interpret-
ing the archived records.

25. The origins of anti-Catholic sentiment in England traced to Pope Clement VII's
refusal to annul the marriage of Henry VIII and Catherine of Aragon. The high-water mark
was the Act of Supremacy of 1534, which decreed the monarch to be “the only supreme head
on earth of the Church in England.” Any act of allegiance to the pope was considered trea-
sonous. See, for example, I. D. Thornley, “The Treason Legislation of Henry VIII (1531-
1534),” Transactions of the Royal Historical Society (Third Series) 11 (1917), 87-123.
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land, it was unlikely that he would have made that known to Charles during
the process of obtaining the charter. Calvert’s strategy worked: the Virginia
Company had accused Calvert of wanting to establish a Catholic colony—
calling him a “Catholic Colonizer™—but Charles dismissed the accusation
and granted the charter as a reward for Calvert’s loyalty to King James 1.

Moreover, the actions taken by Cecilius Calvert immediately after
being granted the charter provide strong circumstantial evidence that the
Calverts wanted to create a haven for Catholics and that they concealed
that plan from King Charles.?® The day that the Ar% and the Dowve set sail
for Maryland all of the passengers who were onboard at that moment were
administered the same Oath of Supremacy and allegiance to the king that
George Calvert had refused, as a Catholic, to take and that had led the
senior Calvert to resign his government posts. Shortly thereafter the ships
made an unannounced stop to pick up the group of Catholic planters who
had been recruited to travel to Maryland, and who were accompanied by
two Catholic priests. The extra stop was necessary because the Catholic
planters had informed Cecilius Calvert that they would not take the Oath
of Supremacy and allegiance to the king.?’

While on the voyage to Maryland the leaders of the expedition were
supplied with a document entitled “Instructions to the Colonists by Lord
Baltimore, 1633” written by Baltimore himself.?® The Instructions pro-
vided additional evidence of the Calverts’ strategy of keeping the animating
principle of the colony under wraps by requiring Catholic planters to prac-
tice their religion “as priuately as may be” and “to be silent vpon all occa-
sions of discourse concerning matters of Religion” so that none of the
Protestants in the colony would complain to the anti-Catholic forces “in
Virginia or in England.”?

According to the charter, Lord Baltimore could pass a law only with
the advice and consent of an assembly of freemen. But the manner of call-
ing such an assembly was left to his will and what constituted “law” was
viewed far less formalistically in seventeenth century Maryland than it is

26. See, for example, Krugler, English and Catholic, pp. 133, 134, 137, 138, 143;
Thomas O’Brien Hanley, “Church and State in the Maryland Ordinance of 1639,” Church
History 26 (1957), 32541, here 332.

27. See, for example, Charles M. Andrews, The Colonial Period of American History: The
Settlements, vol. 2 (New Haven, 1935), p. 286.

28. The 1633 Instructions are available at 7he Calvert Papers, vol. 1 (Baltimore, 1889),
pp- 131-40, http://www.loc.gov/resource/lhbcb.3364a/.

29. Ibid., vol. 1, p. 132.



474 LAw AND CATHOLICISM IN COLONIAL MARYLAND

today.>® For instance, instructions were regarded as law during the colonial
period,3! and the 1633 directive from Baltimore may be fairly characterized
as Maryland’s first Toleration Act. The second was the Ordinance of 1639,
a basic set of laws enacted by Maryland’s general assembly after the assem-
bly had rejected an initial code proposed by Baltimore in or about 1637 on
the ground that the assembly rather than the proprietor should initiate leg-
islation. Perhaps surprisingly, the 1639 Ordinance was more tolerant about
religion than the far more celebrated Act Concerning Religion of 1649.32
The Ordinance of 1639 extended toleration to Christians and non-Chris-
tians alike, whereas Baltimore’s proposed code—and the more famous Act
Concerning Religion of 1649—afforded toleration to Christians only.’
The language from Baltimore’s proposed code, for example, was “that all
the Inhabitants of this Province being Christians (Slaves excepted), shall
have and enjoy such rights liberties immunities priviledges and free customs
within this Province as any naturall born subject of England hath or ought
to have.”>* The 1639 Ordinance, by contrast, omitted the qualifications in
Baltimore’s proposal and substituted “according to the Great Charter.”
Indeed, under the 1639 Ordinance a Jewish man served in the legislature.’
Further, unlike in New England’s Puritan colonies, religious felonies were
not punishable in court as offenses against religion as such, but rather were
sanctionable solely if they rose to the level of a breach of public order.?”

6

When the 1647 death of Governor Leonard Calvert was coupled with
England coming under the control of a Puritan government, Lord Balti-
more decided to appoint a Protestant governor for Maryland. In 1648 he
required the governor and council to take oaths of office committing them-
selves to religious toleration, including of Catholics: “that I will not . . .
directly or indirectly trouble molest or discountenance any Person whatso-

30. See Joseph H. Smith, “The Foundations of Law in Maryland: 1634-1715,” in Law
and Authority in Colonial America: Selected Essays, ed. George Athan Billias (Barre, 1965), pp.
92-115. See generally The Many Legalities of Early America, ed. Christopher L. Tomlins &
Bruce H. Mann (Chapel Hill, 2001).

31. See, for example, Charles M. Andrews, “List of the Commissions and Instructions
Issued to the Governors and Lieutenant Governors of the American and West Indian
Colonies from 1609 to 1784,” Annual Report of the American Historical Association, vol. 1
(Washington, DC, 1913), pp. 395-528, here p. 395 (for the year 1911 of the historical asso-
ciation); Smith, “The Foundations of Law in Colonial Maryland,” p. 92.

32. See Hanley, “Church and State in the Maryland Ordinance of 1639, p. 325.

33. Ibid.

34. As quoted in ibid., p. 337.

35. As quoted in ibid.

36. Tbid., pp. 337-38.

37. Ibid., p. 339.
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FIGURE 3. Painting of Cecil Calvert Presenting the Acts of Toleration to Gov.
William Stone, by Tompkins Harrison Matteson (1813-84), completed in 1853.
Public domain work retrieved from the Maryland State Archives; original located
in the Senate Lounge, Maryland State House. (http://msa.maryland.gov/megafile/
msa/speccol/sc3500/5¢3520/000100/000191/html/191image.html)

ever . . . professing to believe in Iesus Christ and in particular no Roman
Catholick for or in respect of his or her Religion nor in his or her free exer-
cise thereof . . . nor will I make any difference of Persons in Conferring of
Offices Rewards or Favours . . . in Respect of their s¢ Religion.”® In sum,
although many scholars characterize the Act Concerning Religion of 1649
as “the first act of religious toleration in the British world,” it was actually
preceded by several other Maryland laws, including the more tolerant
Ordinance of 1639 (see Figure 3).%°

38. AOMOL, vol. 3 (1636-1667), pp. 209, 210. In October 1640, Maryland’s Catholic
dominated general assembly passed “An Act For Church liberties.” The law has been called
“obscure, probably deliberately so;” a suggestion that is consistent with the previously mentioned
point about the desire to keep the animating principle secret in an anti-Catholic climate. Francis
X. Curran, Catholics in Colonial Law (Chicago, 1963), p. 19. The law itself stated: “Holy Church
within this Province shall haue and enjoy all her Rights liberties and Franchises wholy and with-
out Blemish.” AOMOL, vol. 1 (January 1637/8-September 1664), p. 96.

39. On the characterization of the 1649 Act, see Farrelly, Papist Patriots, p. 63. Rhode
Island mandated religious toleration from its founding in 1636. See, for example, Gerber,
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That said, the Act Concerning Religion, enacted on April 21, 1649, was
almost certainly the most famous law in Maryland’s colonial history.*’ The
operative provision of the Act provided: “noe person or psons . . . professing
to beleive in Jesus Christ, shall from henceforth bee any waies troubled,
Molested or discountenanced for or in respect of his or her religion nor in
the free exercise thereof within this Province.”* Settlers who blasphemed by
denying either the Trinity or the divinity of Jesus Christ could be punished
by execution or by the seizure of their lands. Any person who disparaged the
Virgin Mary, the apostles, or the evangelists could be whipped, jailed, or

fined. The law outlawed the use of “heretic” and other religious insults.*?

The Act was inspired in large part by the fact that Lord Baltimore—
who wrote most of it—needed to find a way to protect Maryland’s
Catholics after the 1648 oath that he required the governor and council to
take committing themselves to religious toleration had proved insufficient
by itself.* Baltimore’s goal was to compel both Maryland’s non-Catholic
and Catholic residents to extend a modicum of civility towards one another
on matters of religion, at least until they proved themselves ready to do so
voluntarily.** Maryland’s Puritan-Protestant general assembly, rather than
Baltimore, inserted the draconian punishments into the Act so as to con-
form to the spirit of the English Long Parliament’s approach to punishing
heresies and blasphemies.®

Lord Baltimore initially had hoped that manorial courts would resolve
religious disputes to keep them from dividing the community.* However,

“Law and the Lively Experiment in Colonial Rhode Island,” pp. 453-76. Avalon, George
Calvert’s first colony, promised it as early as 1623.

40. See, for example, Paul Finkelman, “Maryland Toleration Act (1649),” Encyclopedia
of American Civil Liberties, vol. 1, ed. Paul Finkelman (New York, 2006), p. 975; Edward C.
Papenfuse, Jr., “An Act Concerning Religion, April 21, 1649: An Interpretation and Tribute
to the Citizen Legislators of Maryland,” http://msa.maryland.gov/msa/speccol/sc2200/
$¢2221/000025/html/toleration.html.

41. AOMOL, vol. 1, pp. 244, 246.

42. Law professor Michael McConnell called the Act’s effort to ban the use of religious
slurs and insults the first attempt in American history to proscribe hate speech. See Michael
W. McConnell, “America’s First ‘Hate Speech’ Regulation,” Constitutional Commentary 9
(1992), 17-23, here 17.

43. See, for example, John D. Krugler, “Lord Baltimore, Roman Catholics, and Toler-
ation: Religious Policy in Maryland during the Early Catholic Years, 1634-1649,” The
Catholic Historical Review 65 (1979), 49-75, here 74.

44. Farrelly, Papist Patriots, p. 99.

45. Andrews, Colonial Period, vol. 2, pp. 310-11.

46. See John D. Krugler, “The Calvert Vision: A New Model for Church-State Rela-
tions,” Maryland Historical Magazine 110 (2015), 7-23, here 12.
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the provincial court quickly came to dominate the colony’s judicial process.*”

A handful of cases illustrated how the animating principle played out in
Maryland’s colonial courts. The first, a 1638 case involving William Lewis,
was decided on the basis of Lord Baltimore’s 1633 Instruction prohibiting
disputes about religion.*® Lewis was a devout Catholic and overseer of the
Jesuit Plantation of St. Inigoes. He was charged by a group of Protestant ser-
vants with harassing them about their religion—he was alleged to have said
that Protestant ministers were “Ministers of the divell” and to have banned
the reading of Protestant literature on his property—and with trying “with
all vehemency craft and subtlety” to convert them and others to
Catholicism.” The provincial court comprised of Governor Leonard
Calvert, Commissioner Thomas Cornwallis, and Secretary John Lewger—
Catholics all—convicted the Catholic defendant of disturbing the peace.
Lewger faulted Lewis for “offensive & indiscrete speech” and for exceeding
his authority in forbidding the Protestant servants “to read a booke otherwise
allowed & lawfull to be read in the state of England.”® He found Lewis’s
“vnseasonable disputations” on religion tended “to the disturbance of the
publique peace & quiett of the colony” in contravention of the proprietor’s
1633 Instruction on the subject.’! Cornwallis likewise emphasized Lewis’s
violation of Baltimore’s Instruction, which was “made for the suppressing of
all such disputes tending to the cherishing of a faction in religion.”? Lewger
fined Lewis “500. weight of tobacco to the lord of the Province,” while
Cornwallis fined him 500 pounds.”® Governor Calvert concurred. The court
also placed Lewis on bond of 3,000 pounds of tobacco until “tenth of
November next” and ordered him not to “offend the peace of this colony or
the inhabitants thereof by iniurious & vnnecessary arguments or disputations
in matters of religion,” or use “any ignominious words or speeches touching
the books or ministers authorised by the State of England.”*

A second case occurred when the Ordinance of 1639 was in effect: a
March 1641/2 complaint by “the Protestants” against Thomas Gerard, a

47. See William E. Nelson, The Common Law in Colonial America: The Chesapeake and
New England, 1660-1750, volume 3 (New York, 2016), p. 6. For the legal history of the judi-
cial power in colonial Maryland, see Scott Douglas Gerber, 4 Distinct Judicial Power: The Ori-
gins of an Independent Judiciary, 1606-1787 (New York, 2011), chap. 6.

48. The records for the case are available in JOMOL, vol. 4 (1637-1650), pp. 35-39.

49. Ibid., vol. 4, pp. 35-36.

50. Ibid., vol. 4, p. 38.

51. Ibid.

52. Ibid.

53. Ibid.

54. Ibid., vol. 4, p. 39.
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Catholic. Gerard was accused of “taking away the Key of the Chappel and
carrying away the Books out of the Chappel.” The general assembly—still
dominated by Catholics at this point in Maryland’s colonial history**—
found Gerard guilty of a misdemeanor, and ordered him to return the key
and the books and to pay a fine of 500 pounds of tobacco towards “the
maintenance of the first minister as should arrive.””” As in the William
Lewis case, the Catholic-controlled government was thereby willing to
punish one of its own for violating the animating principle of the colony.*®

Four other cases about the animating principle were decided after the
passage of the Act Concerning Religion of 1649. Two involved Thomas
Hatton, an Anglican who Lord Baltimore had dispatched to Maryland in
1648 to deliver the proposed Act to the general assembly and who, upon
arrival, was appointed to the council and named secretary of the province.*
In March of 1650/1 the general assembly addressed a dispute between a
Catholic member of the assembly named Walter Pakes and Secretary
Hatton in which Pakes accused Hatton of making several disrespectful com-
ments about Catholicism. The assembly’s investigation cleared Hatton of
any wrongdoing and Pakes’s legislative colleagues demanded that the gover-
nor and council ensure that Hatton’s “Reputation” was “fully vindicated from
that fowle imputation which the said Pakes endevoured to lay vpon him.”*

The second reported incident involving Hatton came before the

provincial court in April of 1654. Hatton had accused Luke Gardiner of

55. AOMOL, vol. 1, p. 119. The British American colonies did not adopt the Grego-
rian calendar until 1752, and pre-1752 Julian calendar dates between January 1 and March 25
reference both the Gregorian and Julian years.

56. See, for example, Andrews, Colonial Period, vol. 2, p. 301. Legislators appointed by
the Catholic governor tended to be Catholic during the early years, while those elected by the
freemen tended to be Protestant. See David W. Jordan, Foundations of Representative Gov-
ernment in Maryland, 1632-1715 (New York, 1987), p. 27 (table).

57. AOMOL, vol. 1, p. 119. Suffice it to say that the 1641/2 decision against Gerard
imposing a fine that would be used to support an Anglican minister did not constitute the
establishment of Anglicanism as the state religion of the Maryland colony. That would occur
later.

58. A non-judicial example of equal treatment by the Catholic-controlled government
in the 1640s involved Lord Baltimore rejecting the claimed right of the Society of Jesuits for
special privileges in Maryland, including special tax privileges. See Farrelly, Papist Patriots,
pp- 87, 89.

59. See “The Origins of Thomas Hatton: Secretary of Maryland,” http://freepages.
genealogy.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~wrag44/Opinion_Pieces/The_Origins_of_Thomas_
Hatton.pdf.

60. AOMOL, vol. 1, pp. 318-19.
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trying to convert Hatton’s twelve year old niece to Catholicism. Unfortu-
nately, the outcome of the proceeding was not memorialized. The court
records reported only the charge itself.! But the case is additional evidence
that Protestants were confident that the Catholic-controlled judiciary
would treat non-Catholics fairly.

In 1658 Reverend Francis Fitzherbert, a Catholic, was charged with
trying to “seduce, & draw from their Religion the Inhab®™ there mett
together” certain persons who had gathered “att a generall meeting in
armes of the poeple of the Vpper parts of Patux' Riuer.”®? The provincial
court promptly acquitted Fitzherbert because the 1649 Act Concerning
Religion permitted all Christians—Catholics included—to preach as much
as they liked in the free exercise of their religion.®

What was probably the most famous case in Maryland’s colonial history
involved Jacob Lumbrozo,** a Portuguese Jew who had arrived in Maryland
in the early-to-mid 1650s. Lumbrozo was charged on February 23, 1658/9
with blasphemy for having spoken in a fashion that two witnesses took as
denying the divinity of Jesus Christ. The first witness, John Fossett, testified
that Lumbrozo had said that Christ had performed “Negro-mancy, or sor-
cery,” rather than miracles.® A second, Richard Preston, testified similarly,
alleging that Lumbrozo had said that Christ had performed “Art Magick,”
not miracles, and that he had taught his disciples “his Art.”*

Lumbrozo conceded that he had spoken to Fossett and Preston. How-
ever, he insisted that, as a Jew, he was merely responding to questions

61. AOMOL, vol. 10 (1649/50-1657), p. 356 (“mr Thomas Hatton his Ldps Secretary
and Attorney Generall on his Ldps behalf and on the behalf of himself this day declared
against Luke Gardiner for detaining Elinor Hatton his Neece a Girle of about twelve years
old from him the Said Secretary and her Mother Endeavouring to trayne her up in the Roman
Catholick Religion with other things in the Said Attorneys declaration Contained, the Said
Luke appearing in this Suit upon a Speciall Warrant from the Governour and both parties
being heard at large touching the Matter in question, The Court for the present pronounced
noe other order therein, but onely that the Said Elinor Hatton who was present in Court and
brought in upon the Said Speciall Warrant, Should be returned and left to the disposition of
the Said Attorney her Uncle. The Said Warrant, declaracon and other proceedings thereupon
being hereafter upon Record fol.”).

62. AOMOL, vol. 41 (1658-62), pp. 144-46.

63. Ibid., vol. 41, pp. 566—67.

64. See, for example, J. H. Hollander, “Some Unpublished Material Relating to Dr.
Jacob Lumbrozo, of Maryland,” Publications of the American Jewish Historical Society, vol. 1
(Baltimore, 1893), pp. 25-40.

65. AOMOL, vol. 41, p. 203.

66. Ibid.
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about how his religion perceived Jesus and that he had “sayd not any thing
scoffingly or in derogad of him, Christians acknowledge for the Messias.”®”

The provincial court ruled that “the s! Lumbrozo remaine in the Sher-
ifts Custody untill hee putt in security Body for Body to make answere to
what shall be layd to his charge, Concerning those blasephemous words &
speeches, att the next Prouinciall Court, & th® the persons be there present
to testify uiua voce in Court.”® If convicted, Lumbrozo would have been
liable to punishment by death and forfeiture of his lands and goods. But
the general amnesty proclaimed in the province ten days later, upon the
accession of Richard Cromwell to the English protectorate, conferred
upon Lumbrozo his freedom. Lumbrozo received letters of denizen in
1663, which imbued him with the rights of a native or natural born subject,
including the right to own land. In 1665 he was awarded a commission to
trade with Native Americans.®’

Death of an Animating Principle

Lord Baltimore was said to have referred to the years 1642-1660 as a
“time of troubles” in which the ferment in England had profound conse-
quences for his proprietorship of Maryland.” In the colorful words of one
historian, “As a leading Roman Catholic he could hardly expect forbear-
ance from a government of English Puritans accustomed to calling his
church ‘the whore of Babylon.””! With the end of the English Civil War
and the execution of King Charles I, Parliament wanted to rein in those
English American colonies that had Royalist sympathies. William Clai-
borne, a bitter anti-Catholic critic of Maryland whose disdain for the
Calverts antedated the granting of Maryland’s charter and who had 